Standards Committee Hearing Panel

Date

Tuesday 23 November 2021

Time

9.30 am

Venue

Council Chamber, County Hall, Durham

Business
Part A

Items which are open to the Public and Press

1.

Election of Chair

2.

Declarations of Interest

3.

Standards Committee Hearing Panel - COM 322, 323, 324 and 364
(Pages 3 - 322)
To consider RESOLVING that in accordance with Section 100A(4) of
the Local Government Act 1972, the press and public be excluded
from the meeting for the matter on the grounds that it involves the
likely disclosure of exempt information, as defined in paragraph 1 of
Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act

Helen Lynch
Head of Legal and Democratic Services
County Hall
Durham
15 November 2021

To:

The Members of the Standards Committee Hearing Panel

Councillors L Mavin, J Nicholson and C Varty

Contact: Jill Errington

Email: 03000 269703

This page is intentionally left blank

Standards Committee Hearing Panel

Agenda Item 3

23 November 2021
COM 322, 323, 324 and 364

Report of Helen Lynch
Monitoring Officer and Head of Legal and Democratic Services
Electoral division(s) affected:
Spennymoor

Purpose of the Report
1. This report summarises the issues relating to Member Code of Conduct
Complaints, referred for determination by a Hearing Panel of the Standards
Committee (the Panel) to take place on 23 November 2021.

Executive summary
2. The Monitoring Officer has received four complaints against Councillor
Pete Molloy (the Member) of Spennymoor Town Council. The complaints,
following initial assessment and investigation have been referred for
consideration and determination by a Panel.
3. The complaints relate to allegations of conduct of the Member in his
capacity as a Spennymoor Town Councillor towards officers of the Town
Council and posts he has made on social media.

Recommendations
4. The Panel is recommended to:
a. determine as a preliminary matter, whether the Panel Hearing
should be open to the Press and Public in full or in part; and
b. consider the investigation report and reach decisions in respect of
each complaint on:
i. Factual findings;
ii. Whether, and if so how, the Code has been breached by
the Councillor; and
iii. If there has been a breach of the Code what action, if any,
is required.

Page 3

Background
5. Councillor Pete Molloy, was elected to Spennymoor Town Council in May
2019. As a member of the Town Council, the Member is expected to
behave in accordance with the Member Code of Conduct. A copy of the
current Member Code of Conduct for Spennymoor Town Council is shown
at Appendix 2.
6. On 5 January 2021 the Monitoring Officer acknowledged receipt of two
Code of Conduct complaints from two officers of the Town Council (COM
322 and COM 324). A complaint was also received from the Town Council
(COM 323), the allegations within the complaint largely mirrored those
raised by the officers of the Town Council.
7. The Monitoring Officer received a Code of Conduct complaint from a
member of the public dated 13 July 2021 relating to posts made on social
media by Councillor Pete Molloy during his time as a Spennymoor Town
Councillor (COM 364).
8. A summary of each complaint to be considered by the Hearing Panel of the
Standards Committee (the Panel) is set out within this report. Due to the
nature of the complaints, the complaints are presented in the proposed
order for the Panel to consider than chronological order. This approach has
been taken to assist in the running order of the hearing and reduce
disruption should parts of the complaints need to be considered in private.

Preliminary Consideration
9. As a preliminary consideration, the Panel are to determine whether the
hearing should be open to the public and press. There is a presumption
that meetings of the Panel will be open to the public and press unless
confidential information or exempt information is likely to be disclosed.
10. The Local Determination Procedure shown at Appendix 3 of this report
sets out the circumstances in which hearings (or parts of hearings) can or
should be held in private. These are:
(a) A hearing must be held in private where this is necessary to prevent
confidential information being revealed.
Confidential information means information that has been provided by
a Government department under the condition that it must not be
revealed, as well as information that cannot be revealed under any
legislation or by a court order.
(b) The law also gives the Hearing Panel the power to hold a private
meeting to prevent 'exempt information' being revealed to the public.
Page 4

The categories of 'exempt information' are those set out in Schedule
12A to the Local Government Act 1972. However, regulations also
provide for two additional categories of ‘exempt information’ in
relation to the Hearing Panel namely information which is subject to
any obligation of confidentiality or information which relates in any
way to matters concerning national security.
11. The Panel will need to have regard to Article 6 of the European
Convention on Human Rights, and Section 6(1) of the Human Rights Act
1998 which places a duty to act fairly and in line with the rules of natural
justice. Article 6 favours public hearings, except in specific circumstances.
12. If the Panel decide to exclude the public to prevent ‘exempt information’
being revealed, it will only exclude the public for part of the proceedings.
For example, if a witness' evidence is likely to reveal ‘exempt information’,
the public will only have to be excluded while that witness is giving
evidence. If evidence is heard in private, the Chair of the Panel will warn
those present not to mention that evidence during the public parts of the
hearing, or outside the hearing. The Panel may also need to use
appropriate initials to protect the identity of witnesses during the hearing
and in any public documentation.
13. The Panel in considering whether the press and public should be excluded
from the hearing, will take into account any representations from the
Investigating Officer, the Member and the Independent Person with
reasons why the Panel should make such an exclusion.

COM 364
14. This complaint was presented by a member of the public concerning a
large number of Facebook posts published by the Member said to
express “racist views, religious discrimination and sexual orientation
discrimination.” The posts subject to the complaint are shown within the
investigation report at Appendix 4, pages 69 to 88.
15. A number of the posts were published prior to the Member being elected.
The Code of Conduct only applies where a member is acting in their
official capacity. The Member was first elected to Spennymoor Town
Council in May 2019. Posts made prior to taking office are outside the
scope of Member Code of Conduct complaints and therefore only posts
published after the election are considered within this procedure.
16. The allegations relate potential breaches of the Spennymoor Town
Council Member Code of Conduct, a copy of the current Code of Conduct
is shown Appendix 2. A summary of the relevant paragraphs of the Code
is shown below:
Page 5

... the code applies whenever you:
conduct the business of the Council (including the business of your office
as an elected councillor or co-opted member); or act, claim to act or give
the impression you are acting as a representative of the Council.
…
Act in accordance with the principles in paragraph 2.21 and, in particular:
(j) Always treat people with respect, including the organisations and
public they engage with and work alongside;
(n) Not to bring the role of Member or the local authority into disrepute
and be aware that the actions and behaviour of a Member are subject
to greater scrutiny than that of ordinary members of the public.
17. On 13 August 2021, the complaint was referred for investigation which
was recorded in the decision notice shown within Appendix 4 at pages
113 to 115. Mr Matt Lewin was appointed as the Investigating Officer.
Another matter was also referred for investigation, specifically COM 360
however following an investigation, it was determined that the outcome
for the complaint was no further action and this was recorded in a
decision notice dated 21 October 2021.
18. A report was prepared by the Investigating Officer which is shown at
Appendix 4. The Investigating Officer within the report sets out at
paragraphs 15 to 18 (pages 54 to 55) the provisions of Article 10 of the
European Convention on Human Rights. This highlights that the Member
has the right of freedom of expression protection under Article 10, which
includes:
“the freedom to hold and express opinions and thus protects the right to
criticise, speculate and make value judgments.
Statements on political issues or other matters of general interest attract
enhanced protection under the law, meaning that there are relatively few
limits which can be imposed on “political speech”. As a result, even
statements which offend, shock or disturb may be protected by the law.
However, freedom of expression is not an absolute right, which means
that speech which spreads, incites, promotes or justifies violence, hatred
or intolerance may be lawfully restricted.”

Page 6

19. The Investigating Officer also considered official capacity as detailed
within paragraphs 19 – 24 of the investigation report (pages 55 to 57).
There is no legal definition of “official capacity”.
20. The Committee on Standards in Public Life considered the issue of
official capacity and social media in its report, Ethical Standards in Local
Government. The Committee is a leading authority in this field and the
Investigating Officer invites the Panel to adopt the approach and
guidance of the Committee for Standards in Public Life which is set out in
full at paragraph 23 of the investigation report at page 56.
21. The Member has participated in the investigation. He was interviewed by
the Investigating Officer in relation to the allegations. The Member stated
that the posts were published on his personal Facebook page and
therefore were not subject to the Member Code of Conduct. He also
stated that the posts had not been removed by Facebook for violating
their terms of service and that he had not been the subject of any criminal
investigation as a result of the posts. The Member was also given the
opportunity to comment on the draft report which appears within
Appendix 4 at pages 129 – 132.
22. The Investigating Officer considered that the posts were made in an
official capacity (paragraphs 44 to 51 of the investigation report) and that
these posts are in breach of the Code (paragraphs 52 to 58 of the
investigation report), specifically that the posts express Islamophobic and
racist views.
23. The conclusion of the Investigating Officer is shown at paragraph 60(b) of
the report which finds a breach paragraph 2.4 (j) of the Code in that they
fail to show respect to others.
24. Following the findings of the Investigating Officer, the Monitoring Officer
in consultation with the Independent Person, Kayleigh-Louise Wilkinson,
recommended that this matter be referred for determination by the
Standards Committee Panel. A copy of the decision notice recording this
is shown at Appendix 5 (pages 135 to 137), dated 21 October 2021.
25. In accordance with the Local Determination Procedure, the Member was
invited to provide his comments on the report and his submissions to the
Panel which are shown at Appendix 6 (page 141).

Page 7

COM 322 - COM 324
26. As set out at paragraph 6 of this report, three complaints were received
relating to conduct towards officers of the Town Council.
27. COM 322, relates to a complaint submitted by an officer of the Council,
about a comment made by the Member in a workshop meeting of the
Council, and a subsequent post the Member published on Facebook,
suggesting that the officers post should be gotten rid of.
28. COM 324, relates to a complaint made by another officer of the Council,
alleging that the Member bullied them and made an unfounded
accusation on Facebook that they had conspired to make a false
allegation of bullying against him.
29. COM 323, is a complaint presented by the Town Council which repeats
the allegations regarding the conduct of the Member towards the two
officers.
30. The allegations relate to the following paragraphs of the Member Code of
Conduct for Spennymoor Town Council. A copy of the Code of Conduct
in place at the time of the complaint is shown at pages 161 to 168 within
the Investigating Officers report at Appendix 7. The relevant paragraphs
of the Code in place at the time of the complaint are:
1. he/she shall behave in such a way that a reasonable person
would regard as respectful at all times, and not bring the Town
Council or their office into disrepute.
2. he/she shall not act in a way which a reasonable person would
regard as bullying or intimidatory.
5. he/she shall not share, discuss or disclose information to others
which is confidential or where disclosure is prohibited by law.
The Code of conduct was updated in July 2021 and the corresponding
paragraphs of the current Member Code of Conduct are paragraphs (j),
(l) and (m) and are shown at Appendix 2.
31.

On 13 May 2021, the complaints were referred for investigation and was
recorded in the decision notice shown at pages 287 to 293 of Appendix
7. Mr Matt Lewin was appointed as the Investigating Officer and a copy
of the report is shown at Appendix 7.

32.

Given the overlap between the COM 323 and the two personal
complaints COM 322 and COM 324, the Investigating Officer
consolidated COM 323 as part of the consideration of the complaints
from officers.

Page 8

COM 322
33. The details of the complaint are set out at paragraph 27 above.
34. The Investigating Officer recorded that the circumstances of any
individual’s employment are both private and sensitive and, in particular,
termination of an individual’s employment should never be discussed in
such a casual and public way.
35. The Investigating Officer found that the statements of the Member
breached paragraph 3.1, failure to behave in such a way that a
reasonable person would regard as respectful and bringing the Council
into disrepute, of the Code. Additionally, the Investigating Officer found
that the two statements breached paragraph 3.2, acting in a way which a
reasonable person would regard as bullying, of the Code.

COM 324
36. The details of the complaint are set out above at paragraph 24. The
Investigating Officer outlines in his report the background matters
between the Member and the Complainant shown at paragraphs 11-14 of
Appendix 7 (page 147).
37. The allegations relate to whether:
a. the Member breached the Code by making false and unfounded
complaints about the officer as set out at paragraph 15 - 29 of the
investigation report.
b. a Facebook post on 4 December 2020 constitutes a breach of the
Code, the details of which are shown at paragraphs 30 - 35 of the
investigation report.
38. As part of the investigation, the Member was interviewed and his views
sought. The Member advised the Investigating Officer that he had been
subject to victimisation by the officer. The findings of the Investigating
Officer on this are shown at paragraphs 39 – 43 of the investigation
report, which confirms that the Investigating Officer did not accept that
there had been victimisation towards the Member by the officer.
39. The Investigating Officer found that both the statements and post on
Facebook of 4 December 2020 constitute political speech and attract
enhanced protection under the law. The Investigating Officer highlights

Page 9

that the right of freedom of expression is not absolute; it may lawfully be
restricted where there is a justification for doing so.
40. In conclusion of the investigation, the Investigating Officer made the
following findings:
a. The Member did not breach of the Code in respect of the
complaints by the Member relating to the officer, this is recorded
with reasons at paragraphs 44 to 46 of the report.
b. The Member did breach the Code, in respect of the Facebook
post dated 4 December 2020, namely:
i. paragraph 3.1, failure to behave in such a way that a
reasonable person would regard as respectful and bringing the
Council into disrepute, of the Code.
ii. paragraph 3.2, acting in a way which a reasonable person
would regard as bullying, of the Code.
41.

The reasons for the finding are shown at paragraphs 47 to 53 of the
investigation report at Appendix 7.

42.

Following the findings of the Investigating Officer, the Monitoring Officer
in consultation with the Independent Person, Kayleigh-Louise Wilkinson,
recommended that this matter be referred for determination by the
Standards Committee Panel. A copy of the decision notice recording
this is shown at Appendix 8, dated 21 October 2021.

43.

In accordance with the Local Determination Procedure, the Member
was invited to provide his comments on the report and his submissions
to the Panel which are shown at Appendix 9 of this report.

Role of the Panel
44. The pre-hearing process has been followed with a view to limiting the
issues for decision by the Panel. The Local Determination Procedure for
the Panel to follow is shown at Appendix 3.
45. Where an investigation finds evidence of a failure to comply with the
Code of Conduct and local resolution is not appropriate or possible, the
investigation findings will be reported to the Panel for local determination.
46. The role of the Panel is to consider each of the complaints and
allegations separately. The Panel will need to consider the evidence
presented by the Investigating Officer and the Member.

Page 10

47. As set out earlier in the report, the Member was able to comment on the
draft report and has been provided with a copy of the final report on
which he has also commented, the responses to the Member are shown
at Appendices 6 and 9.
48. Having heard from the Investigating Officer and the Member, it is the role
of the Panel to make findings of fact in relation to the conduct complained
of and determine whether or not they consider that the Member has
breached the Code of Conduct. The Panel is entitled to reach a different
conclusion to the Investigating Officer.
49. Before reaching a decision on the allegations, the Panel must consider
representations from the Independent Person as to whether or not there
has been a breach of the Code.
50. If the Panel conclude that there has been a breach of the Code of
Conduct it must decide what action, if any, should be taken. The Panel
will consider representations from the Investigating Officer, Member and
Independent Person on the issue of sanctions.
51. The Localism Act provides the following sanctions for current Councillors
which are set out in the Local Determination Procedure and are as
follows:
a. Censure of the Member;
b. Recommending to Full Council, or to the Town or Parish Council
that the Member be removed from any or all Committees or SubCommittees;
c. Recommending to Full Council, or to the Town or Parish Council,
that the Member be removed from all outside appointments to
which s/he has been appointed or nominated by the authority
d. Recommending to Full Council, or to the Town or Parish Council,
that the Member’s access and use of resources of the Authority
be restricted for a maximum period of six months, provided that
any such restrictions imposed upon the Member:
i. are reasonable and proportionate to the nature of the
breach; and
ii. do not unduly restrict the Member's ability to perform his
functions and duties as a Member;
e. A requirement that the Member submit a written apology.
f. A requirement that that Member undertake training as specified
by the Hearing Panel.
g. A requirement that that Member undertake conciliation as
specified by the Hearing Panel;

Page 11

52.

The Hearing Panel will announce its decision and the end of the
Hearing and as soon as practicable after the hearing the Hearing Panel
provide a written decision notice, which will be sent to the
Complainants, the Member, the Clerk to the Town Council and
published on the Council’s website.

53. The Hearing Panel will announce its decision at the end of the hearing.
As soon as practicable after the hearing, the Hearing Panel will give its
full written decision to the relevant persons involved.
54. A summary of the decision and reasons for that decision will be published
on the Council’s website.

Background papers


None

Author(s)
Helen Lynch

Tel 03000 269729

Kamila Coulson-Patel

Tel 03000 269674

Page 12

Appendix 1: Implications
Legal Implications
The Council has a duty under s. 27 of the Localism Act 2011 to promote and
maintain high standards of conduct by its members and to adopt a code of
conduct that is consistent with the Nolan Principles.

Finance
None.

Consultation
None.

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty
None.

Climate Change
None

Human Rights
None

Crime and Disorder
None

Staffing
None

Accommodation
None

Risk
None

Procurement
None

Page 13

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 2: Code of Conduct Spennymoor Town Council

Page 15

This page is intentionally left blank

SPENNYMOOR TOWN COUNCIL

MEMBERS’ CODE OF CONDUCT
Author of Policy:

Town Clerk

Date Effective From:

27 July 2021

Policy Review:
When & By Whom
Next Review:

6 July 2021
Policy and Resources Committee
July 2023

Version Control:
V3 (new DCC version)
In accordance with the Freedom of Information Act 2000, this document will be
posted on the Council’s Website www.spennymoor-tc.gov.uk and copies of this
document will be available for inspection on deposit in the Council Offices, Town
Hall, Spennymoor.
Costs are as per the model publication scheme.
1
Page 17

1. Introduction
1.1

Pursuant to section 27 of the Localism Act 2011, SPENNYMOOR TOWN
COUNCIL (‘the Council’) has adopted the following code which has effect
from 27 July 2021 and will be reviewed annually. The Code which sets out the
conduct that is expected of elected and co-opted members of the Council
when they are acting in that capacity.

1.2

This means the code applies whenever you:
conduct the business of the Council (including the business of your office as
an elected councillor or co-opted member); or act, claim to act or give the
impression you are acting as a representative of the Council.

1.3

‘Co-opted member’ means any person who is a member of any committee or
sub-committee of the Council with a right to vote but is not one of its elected
members

2. Part 1 – General Conduct
2.1

Members and co-opted Members of Spennymoor Town Council (“the
Council”) are expected to undertake their duties as follows:

2.2

Represent the community and work constructively with employees and
partner organisations to ensure the area is a safer place to live, work and visit.

2.3

Behave in a manner that is consistent with the following principles to achieve
best value for residents and maintain public confidence in the Council:

(a)

Selflessness:

act solely in terms of the public interest and not act in
such a way as to gain financial or other material benefits
for themselves, their family or friends;

(b)

Integrity:

not placing themselves under any financial or other
obligation to outside individuals or organisations that
might seek to influence them in the performance of their
official duties;

(c)

Objectivity:

make choices on merit, in carrying out public business,
including when making public appointments, awarding
contracts, or recommending individuals for rewards and

2
Page 18

benefits;
(d)

Accountability:

be accountable for their decisions and actions to the
public and must submit themselves to whatever scrutiny is
appropriate to their office;

(e)

Openness:

be as open as possible about all the decisions and actions
they take, and give reasons for decisions and restrict
information only when the wider public interest or the law
clearly demands;

(f)

Honesty:

declare any private interests relating to their public duties
and take steps to resolve any conflicts arising in a way
that protects the public interest.

(g)

Leadership:

promote and support these principles by leadership and
example.

2.4

Act in accordance with the principles in paragraph 2.2 and, in particular:

(a)

Champion the needs of residents - the whole community and all constituents,
including those who did not vote for them - and put the public interest first;

(b)

Deal with representations or enquiries from residents, members of our
communities and visitors fairly, appropriately and impartially;

(c)

Not allow other pressures, including the financial interests of themselves or
others connected to them, to deter them from pursuing the interests of the
Council or the good governance of the Council in a proper manner;

(d)

Exercise independent judgement and not compromise their position by
placing themselves under obligations to outside individuals or organisations
who might seek to influence the way they perform their duties as a
Member/Co-opted Member of the Council;

(e)

Listen to the interests of all parties, including relevant advice from statutory
and other professional officers, take all relevant information into consideration,
remain objective and make decisions on merit;

(f)

Be accountable for decisions and cooperate when scrutinised internally
and externally, including by local residents;
3
Page 19

(g)

Contribute to making the Authority's decision-making processes as open and
transparent as possible to ensure residents understand the reasoning behind
those decisions and are informed when holding the Authority to account but
restricting access to information when the wider public interest or the law
requires it;

(h)

Behave in accordance with all legal obligations, alongside any requirements
contained within the Council’s policies, protocols and procedures, including on
the use of the Council’s resources;

(i)

Value colleagues and staff and engage with them in an appropriate manner
and one that underpins the mutual respect that is essential to good local
government;

(j)

Always treat people with respect, including the organisations and public they
engage with and work alongside;
Respect means politeness and courtesy in behaviour, speech, and in the
written word. Debate and having different views are all part of a healthy
democracy. Members should express, challenge, criticise and disagree with
views, ideas, opinions and policies in a robust but civil manner. Members
must not, however, subject individuals, groups of people or organisations to
personal attack.
Members should treat members of the public politely and courteously. Rude
and offensive behaviour lowers the public’s expectations and confidence in
Members. Members equally have a right to expect respectful behaviour from
the public. If members of the public are being abusive, intimidatory or
threatening, Members may stop any conversation or interaction in person or
online and report them to the local authority, the relevant social media
provider or the police. This also applies to fellow Members, where appropriate
action could then be taken under the Code of Conduct, and local authority
employees, where concerns should be raised in line with the local authority’s
relevant protocols;

(k)

Provide leadership through behaving in accordance with these principles
when championing the interests of the community with other organisations as
well as within this Authority;

(l)

Not disclose information given to them in confidence by anyone or
information acquired, which they believe, or ought reasonably to be aware, is
4

Page 20

of a confidential nature, without express authority and/or unless the law
requires it.
(m)

Not to bully or harass any person (including specifically any council employee)
and you must not intimidate or improperly influence, or attempt to intimidate or
improperly influence, any person who is involved in any complaint about any
alleged breach of the code of conduct.
Bullying may be characterised as: offensive, intimidating, malicious or
insulting behaviour; or an abuse or misuse of power in a way that intends to
undermine, humiliate, criticise unfairly or injure someone.
Harassment may be characterised as unwanted conduct which has the
purpose or effect of violating an individual’s dignity or creating an intimidating,
hostile, degrading, humiliating or offensive environment for an individual.
Bullying and/or harassment may take many forms, it could include but is not
limited to age, disability, gender reassignment, race, religion, belief, sex
and/or sexual orientation.
Not to bring the role of Member or the local authority into disrepute and be
aware that the actions and behaviour of a Member are subject to greater
scrutiny than that of ordinary members of the public;
To hold the local authority and fellow Members to account and constructively
challenge and express concern about decisions and processes undertaken by
the Council whilst continuing to adhere to other aspects of this Code of
Conduct.

2.5

It is expected that Members will at all times comply with requests as part of
Code of Conduct investigations and any arising outcomes. Members will not
submit malicious or trivial complaints.

2.6

Where it is alleged that a Member has failed to act in accordance with the
Code, a complaint will be presented to the Monitoring Officer for consideration
in accordance with the Local Assessment Procedure and where necessary
the Local Determination Procedure.

5
Page 21

3. Part 2 – Registration of Interests
3.1

Register of Interests
Members must:

(a)

register and, where appropriate, disclose those disclosable pecuniary
interests that they are obliged to declare under the Localism Act and
associated regulations; and register any body of which they are a member (or
in a position of general control or management) to which you were appointed
or nominated by the Council; and

(c)

register details of their membership of any organisation or body whose
rules or requirements of membership could be regarded as suggesting a
degree of loyalty to that organisation or body. This could arise by reason of an
organisation having an obligation of secrecy about its rules, its membership or
conduct and/or a commitment of allegiance or support to that organisation or
body. Such organisations or bodies may or may not be charitable concerns
and they may also have a local, regional, national or international aspect; and

(d)

register details of my membership of any trade union within the meaning of
Section 1 of the Trade Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992.

3.2

Registration of interests shall be completed by provision of details upon a
signed prescribed form which is submitted to the Town Clerk. Members must
ensure they keep the register updated and acknowledge that its contents will
be published on the Council’s website and will be open to the public to
inspect.

4. Disclosable
Pecuniary
Entered on the Register
4.1

If Members are present at any meeting of the Council and:
(a)

they are aware that they have a disclosable pecuniary interest under
paragraph 3.1(a) above in any matter to be considered or being
considered at the meeting; and

(b)

the interest is entered in the Authority's register

6
Page 22

Interests

they may not participate in any discussion or further discussion of an
item of business or in any vote or further vote taken on that item which
affects or relates to the subject matter in which they have such an
interest; and they must leave the room where the meeting is held while
any discussion and or voting takes place.

5. Disclosable Pecuniary Interests NOT
Entered on the Register
5.1

If Members are present at a meeting of the Authority and:

(a)

are aware that they have a disclosable pecuniary interest under paragraph
3.1(a) above in any matter to be considered or being considered at the
meeting; and

(b)

the interest is not entered in the Authority's register,
they must disclose the interest to the meeting. Furthermore, they may not
participate or further participate in any discussion of the matter at the meeting
or participate in any vote or further vote taken on the matter at the meeting
and must leave the room where the meeting is held while any discussion and
or voting takes place.

5.2

If an interest referred to in 3.1(a) above is not entered on the Authority's
register and is not the subject of a pending registration, Members must notify
the Authority's Monitoring Officer of the interest within 28 days of the date of
the disclosure.

5.3

If Members with the power to discharge an Authority function acting alone will
have a disclosable pecuniary interest in any matter to be dealt with or being
dealt with by them in the course of discharging that function:

(a)

they may not take any steps, or any further steps, in relation to the matter
(except for the purpose of enabling the matter to be dealt with otherwise than
by them); and
if the interest is not entered on the Council's register and is not the subject of
a pending registration, they must notify the Town Council and Monitoring
Officer of the interest within 28 days of becoming aware of the interest.

7
Page 23

6. Sensitive Interests
6.1

This applies to a situation where a Member considers that the disclosure of
the details of your interest – including that of your spouse or partner – could
lead to you, or a person connected with you, being subject to violence or
intimidation.

6.2

In such circumstances you should share your concerns with the Town Clerk
and Monitoring Officer. If the Monitoring Officer agrees with you, then the
details of the interest will not be included in the Council’s published Register
of Interests, but the Register may state that you had registered an interest the
details of which had been withheld under Section 32 of the Localism Act 2011.

6.3

If the Monitoring Officer has accepted that you have a sensitive interest under
Section 32 of the Localism Act 2011, you should declare the existence of the
interest at any meeting at which you are present but you need not declare the
details of the interest.

6.4

If circumstances change and the information excluded from the Register on
the grounds of sensitivity is no longer sensitive information, the Member must
notify the Monitoring Officer within 28 days.

7. Other Relevant Interests
7.1

Members may have an Other Relevant Interest (which is not a disclosable
pecuniary interest) in any matter to be considered or being considered at the
meeting) where:
a decision in relation to that matter might reasonably be regarded as
affecting the well-being or financial standing of them or a member of their
family or a person with whom they have a close association, or an
organisation or body under paragraph 3.1(b), 3.1(c) or 3.1(d) above, to a
greater extent than it would affect the majority of the Council Tax payers,
ratepayers or inhabitants of the ward or electoral area for which they have
been elected or otherwise of the authority's administrative area; and
the interest is one that a member of the public with knowledge of the
relevant facts would reasonably regard as so significant that it is likely to
prejudice their judgement of the public interest.

8
Page 24

7.2

Members with an Other Relevant Interest as described above:

(a)

must make a verbal declaration of the existence and nature of that
interest at or before the consideration of the item of business or as soon as
the interest becomes apparent; and

(b)

must not participate in any discussion or further discussion of an item of
business or in any vote or further vote taken on that item which affects or
relates to the subject matter in which they have an Other Relevant Interest at
any meeting at which they are present and will leave the room where the
meeting is held while any discussion or voting takes place.

8. Gifts and Hospitality
8.1

Members must, within 28 days of receipt, notify the Town Clerk in writing of
any gift, benefit or hospitality with a value in excess of £50 which they have
been offered as a member from any person or body other than the Authority,
whether the offer is accepted or declined.

8.2

The Town Clerk will place any notification received under paragraph 8.1 on a
public register of gifts and hospitality.

8.3

The duty to notify the Town Clerk does not apply where the gift, benefit or
hospitality has been approved by the Authority for this purpose.

9
Page 25

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 3: Local Determination Procedure

Page 27

This page is intentionally left blank

Local Determination Procedure

May 2021

Page 29

1. Guide To Main Provisions
Introduction
1.1

Under section 28 of the Localism Act 2011 an Authority must have
arrangements in place to determine whether or not a Member
(including a Co-opted Member) or a member of a Parish Council in its
area has failed to follow the relevant Code of Conduct. These
arrangements must determine how allegations are investigated and
under which decisions on allegations can be made.

1.2

The Members' Code of Conduct adopted by the Authority defines the
standards of conduct required of all Members of the Authority,
including Co-opted Voting Members of the Authority's Standards
Committee, when carrying out their duties. The Code represents the
standards against which the public, fellow Members, the Monitoring
Officer, Investigating Officer and the Authority's Standards Committee
will judge a Member's conduct.

1.3

This Procedure provides a summary of the process for dealing with
allegations of misconduct against Members where an investigation
has been completed and the Investigating Officer has found a breach
of the Code of Conduct.

Local Determination
1.4

Where an investigation finds evidence of a failure to comply with the
Code of Conduct and local resolution is not appropriate or possible,
the investigation findings will be reported to a Hearing Panel of the
Standards Committee for local determination.

1.5

The purpose of the hearing is to decide whether or not a Member has
failed to follow the Code of Conduct and, if so, to decide whether or
not any sanction should be applied and what form any sanction
should take.

Scheduling of Hearing
1.6

The Hearing Panel shall in the absence of good reason to the
contrary hold a hearing in relation to an allegation within the period of
three months beginning on the date of completion of the Investigating
Officer’s report.

1.7

The hearing shall not be held until at least fourteen days after the
date on which the report was sent to the Member who is the subject of
the allegation, unless the Member concerned agrees to the hearing
being held earlier.

1.8

Except in complicated cases, the Hearing Panel would aim to
complete a hearing in one sitting or in consecutive sittings of no more
than one working day in total.

Page 30

Appointment of Hearing Panel
1.9

The Hearing Panel will comprise three Members of the Standards
Committee selected by the Monitoring Officer. A quorum of the
Hearing Panel will be three Members. Any member who is the
complainant or the subject of the complaint will not participate in the
decision making process.

Hearing
1.10

The Hearing Panel will act in an inquisitorial manner, rather than an
adversarial manner, seeking the truth in relation to the conduct of the
Member on the balance of the information available to it. The Hearing
Panel can commission further investigation or information where it
needs to do so in order to come to a decision.

1.11

It is expected that the Hearing Panel will reach a decision by
consensus. In the absence of a consensus, each Member of the
Hearing Panel will have one vote and all matters/issues will be
decided by a simple majority of votes cast.

1.12

Meetings of the Hearing Panel will be open to the public and press
unless confidential information or exempt information (within the
meaning of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972) is likely
to be disclosed.

Findings
1.13

Following its consideration of the matter, the Hearing Panel can make
one of the following findings:


that the Member has not failed to follow the Code of Conduct; or



that the Member has failed to follow the Code of Conduct, but no
action needs to be taken; or



that the Member has failed to follow the Code of Conduct and
should be sanctioned.

Sanctions
1.14

If the Hearing Panel finds that a Member has failed to follow the Code
of Conduct and that he/she should be sanctioned, it may take any one
or a combination of the following actions:


censure the Member (this is the only form of sanction available
when dealing with a person who is no longer a Member);



restriction to the access and use of resources of the Authority for a
maximum period of six months, provided that any such restrictions
imposed upon the Member: -

Page 31

o are reasonable and proportionate to the nature of the breach;
and
o do not unduly restrict the person’s ability to perform the
functions of a Member.


a requirement to give a written apology;



the removal of a member from a committee;



a requirement to undergo training.

Notice of Findings
1.15

The Hearing Panel will announce its decision at the end of the
hearing. As soon as practicable after the hearing, the Hearing Panel
will give its full written decision to the relevant persons involved.

1.16

A summary of the decision and reasons for that decision will be
published on the Council’s website which will inclunde a brief
statement of facts, the provisions of the code engaged by the
allegations, the view of the Indendent Person. The reasoning of the
decision -maker and any sanction applied.

2. Description of Terms
Members' Code of Conduct
2.1
The Members' Code of Conduct adopted by the Authority defines the
standards of conduct required of all Members of the Authority when
carrying out their duties.
Complainant(s)
2.2
The person(s) making the complaint that a Member has breached the
Code of Conduct.
Member
2.3
The person against whom the complaint has been made.
Monitoring Officer
2.4
The person who oversees investigations into complaints made
against Members under the Code of Conduct.
Authority
2.5
The Member’s Council at the time of an allegation.
Legal Adviser to the Hearing Panel
2.6
The Monitoring Officer, or in their absence the Deputy Monitoring
Officer.

Page 32

Investigating Officer
2.7
The person appointed by the Monitoring Officer to undertake the
investigation of an allegation.
Head of Legal and Democratic Services
2.8
The designated Proper Officer for the determination of "exempt
information" as defined in Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act
1972.
Independent Person
2.9
The person who is appointed by the Authority under section 28(7) of
the Localism Act 2011 whose views are to be sought, and taken into
account, by the Authority before it makes its decision on an allegation
that it has decided to investigate.
Administrative Officer
2.10 The Head of Legal and Democratic Services, or their Deputy, and
other members of their staff will provide the necessary administrative
support to the Hearing Panel.
"Days"
2.11 "Days" include working and weekend days but exclude the day of
dispatch and public holidays.
Service Arrangements
2.12 Correspondence and documents for the Member concerned will either
be served personally or by recorded delivery.

3. Pre-Hearing Process
Notification to Member
3.1

Where a final report of an Investigating Officer which contains a
finding of failure to comply with the Code of Conduct has been
referred to a Hearing Panel for local determination, the Administrative
Officer will write to the Member concerned to:
(a)

propose a date for a meeting of the Hearing Panel,

(b)

outline the hearing procedure,

(c)

outline the Member's rights.

In addition the Administrative Officer will ask the Member concerned
to indicate within 14 days whether or not he/she:
(a)

disagrees with any of the findings of fact in the Investigating
Officer’s Report, including the reasons for any disagreement,

Page 33

(b)

will attend the hearing in person,

(c)

wants to be represented at the hearing by a solicitor, barrister
or any other person,

(d)

wants to give evidence to the Hearing Panel, either orally or in
writing,

(e)

wants to call relevant witnesses to give evidence to the Hearing
Panel, and if so, the Member must provide a summary of the
evidence to be given by those witnesses,

(f)

wants any part of the hearing to be held in private, giving
reasons under the relevant Article of the European Convention
on Human rights or category of confidential or exempt
information (see Appendices Two and Three)

(g)

wants any part of the Investigating Officer’s report or other
relevant documents to be withheld from the public, giving
reasons under the relevant Article of the European Convention
of Human Rights or category of confidential or “exempt
information”.

Members’ Response
3.2

In his/her reply a Member must make clear all of his/her
disagreements with the findings of fact in the Investigating Officer’s
report during this pre-hearing stage. This will allow the Chair of the
Hearing Panel, in consultation with the Monitoring Officer, to decide
which witnesses will be needed. A Member will normally not be
allowed to raise any new disagreements over findings of fact in the
Investigating Officer’s report at the Hearing Panel itself, unless there
are good reasons for doing so, such as new evidence becoming
available.

3.3

When the response of the Member concerned has been received, or,
if no response is received, once the 14 day period for responding has
elapsed, the Chair of the Hearing Panel in consultation with the
Monitoring Officer will agree the date, time and place for the hearing.

Advance Notification of Hearing
3.4
At least 14 days before the hearing, the Administrative Officer will
give notification of the date, time and venue set for the hearing to
those involved. He will also inform the Member concerned of the
membership of the Panel which will consider the matter.
Agenda for Hearing
3.5
At least 7 days before the day of the meeting of the Hearing Panel,
the Administrative Officer will send the following papers to each
Member of the Panel, to the Member concerned, to the Investigating
Officer, to the Monitoring Officer and to the Independent Person:

Page 34

(a)

the agenda for the meeting of the Hearing Panel;

(b)

a copy of the Investigating Officer's report (unless already
provided); and

(c)

where relevant, a copy of any written statement in response to
the Investigating Officer’s report received from the Member and
the Investigating Officer’s reply to the Member's response.

3.6

The provision of any such papers referred to in paragraph 3.14 may
be made conditional upon an appropriate undertaking of
confidentiality until such time as they are made available to the press
and public or the Hearing Panel agrees at the commencement of the
hearing that the press and public shall not be excluded from the
meeting.

3.7

Any additional documents intended to be relied on and/or referred to
at the hearing must be provided to the Administrative Officer at least 3
days before the date of the Hearing.

Public Access to Hearing and Documents
3.8
There is a presumption that hearings will be held in public and that
reports for the Hearing Panel will be available before and during the
hearing. However, there may be reasons, as detailed in Appendix
One, which would prevent public access to the hearing (or part of the
hearing) and documents (or parts of documents) to be considered by
the Hearing Panel.
Confidentiality in advance of Hearing
3.9
Where the Head of Legal and Democratic Services considers that the
Investigating Officer’s report and/or Member's written statement in
response to the Investigating Officer’s report and/or the Investigating
Officer’s reply to that response is likely to disclose "exempt
information", and in consequence that it is likely that the Hearing
Panel will not be open to the public during consideration of these
papers, he/she shall not provide copies of these papers` to the press
or public or permit inspection thereof by the press or public in
advance of the meeting.
3.10

Where the Head of Legal and Democratic Services considers that the
Investigating Officer’s report and/or the Member's written statement in
response and/or the Investigating Officer’s reply to that response is
likely to disclose "exempt information" falling within Schedule 12A to
the Local Government Act 1972, he will not provide copies of such
papers to, nor permit inspection by any Member of the Authority other
than the Members of the Hearing Panel and the Member concerned in
advance of the meeting.

Page 35

3.11

"Exempt information" is defined in Schedule 12A of the Local
Government Act 1972 as set out in Appendix Two.

4. Hearing Procedure
Legal Advice
4.1
The Hearing Panel may at any time seek legal advice from the Legal
Adviser during the hearing or while the Hearing Panel considers the
outcome. Such advice will on all occasions be given in the presence
of the Investigating Officer and the Member.
Member Attendance or Representation
4.2
The Member may arrange to be represented or accompanied at the
hearing at his/her own expense by a solicitor, counsel or another
person.
4.3

If the Member does not attend the hearing, the Hearing Panel may
consider the Investigating Officer’s report and the Independent
Person’s views in the Member's absence. If the Hearing Panel is
satisfied with the Member's reason for not being able to attend the
hearing, then it may arrange for the hearing to be held on another
date.

4.4

Where the Hearing Panel proceeds in the absence of the Member,
the procedure for the meeting shall be adapted as necessary, giving
any representative of the Member who may be present such rights as
would otherwise be accorded to the Member concerned.

Order of Business
4.5
The order of business at the meeting shall be as follows:

Page 36

(a)

Disclosures of interest. The Chair will invite Members to
declare any interest they may have in the matter.

(b)

Introduction of Members of the Hearing Panel, the Investigating
Officer, the Monitoring Officer, the Member against whom a
complaint has been made, any representative of the Member,
any witnesses and, the Independent Person.

(c)

If the Member is not present, consideration as to whether to
adjourn or to proceed in his/her absence.

(d)

Consideration as to whether the press and public should be
excluded from the meeting. The Hearing Panel will take into
account any representations from the Investigating Officer, the
Member concerned or his/her representative and the
Independent Person with reasons why the Panel should make
such an exclusion.

(e)

A note of the issues which the Hearing Panel will have to
consider in deciding whether or not to exclude the press and
public is set out in Appendix Three.

(f)

The Hearing Panel will then make a determination on whether to
exclude the press and public. Where the Panel decides not to
exclude the press and public, the Administrative Officer will at
this point provide copies of such relevant documentation to any
members of the press and public who are present.

(g)

The Investigating Officer will present his/her own reports. The
Investigating Officer will address only the issue of whether the
Member has acted in breach of the Code of Conduct. The
Investigating Officer may introduce any witnesses required to
substantiate any matter. Members of the Hearing Panel and the
Independent Person may question the Investigating Officer and
any witness on any matter within their competence. The
Hearing Panel may give the Member an opportunity to challenge
any evidence put forward by any witness called by the
Investigating Officer by the cross-examination of the witness
either directly by the Member (or their representative) or through
the Chair.

(h)

Presentation by Member. The Member (or their representative)
will address only the issue of whether he/she has acted in
breach of the Code of Conduct. The Member (or their
representative) may introduce witnesses required to
substantiate any matter contained in his/her written statement
(where relevant). Members of the Hearing Panel and the
Independent Person may question the Member and any witness
on their evidence. The Hearing Panel may give the
Investigating Officer an opportunity to challenge any evidence
put forward by any witness called by the Member (or their
representative) by the cross-examination of the witness either
directly by the Investigating Officer or through the Chair.

(i)

Where the hearing is dealing with an Investigating Officer’s
report and the Member seeks to dispute any matter in the report
where he/she had not given notice of intention to dispute in
his/her written statement, the Investigating Officer will draw this
to the attention of the Hearing Panel. The Hearing Panel may
then decide:
(i)

not to admit such dispute but to proceed to a decision on
the basis of the information contained in the report;

(ii)

to admit the dispute, but invite the Investigating Officer to
respond thereto, recalling any witness as necessary; or

Page 37

(iii)

to adjourn the meeting to enable the Investigating Officer
to investigate and report on the dispute and/or to arrange
for the attendance of appropriate witnesses as to the
disputed information.

(j)

Members of the Hearing Panel have to satisfy themselves that
they have sufficient information upon which to take that
decision, and they may question the Investigating Officer, the
Member concerned and any witnesses in order to obtain
sufficient information to enable the Hearing Panel to come to a
decision on the issue.

(k)

The Independent Person will be asked to provide their view
about whether the Member has acted in breach of the Code of
Conduct. The Independent Person may request an
adjournment of the hearing if they require time to form their
view before presenting it to the Hearing Panel.

(l)

The Hearing Panel will adjourn into another room with the
Monitoring Officer, where it will consider in private session
whether the Member has acted in breach of the Code of
Conduct. At any stage in its consideration they may return to
ask any further questions of the Investigating Officer or the
Member, or seek legal advice.

(m)

At the conclusion of its consideration, the Hearing Panel will
return and the Chair will advise the Investigating Officer and
the Member or his/her representative of its decision as to
whether the Member has acted in breach of the Code of
Conduct, and the reasons for that decision.

(n)

If the Hearing Panel concludes that the Member has acted in
breach of the Code of Conduct, it will then hear representations
from the Investigating Officer and then the Member or his/her
representative as to whether the Hearing Panel should take
any action against the Member and what form any action
should take. Members of the Panel may ask questions of the
Investigating Officer, the Member and the Independent Person
and seek legal advice in order to satisfy themselves that they
have the information upon which to take a proper decision.

(o)

The Hearing Panel will then adjourn into another room together
with the with the Monitoring Officer where they will consider in
private session whether to take any action in respect of the
Member and what form any such action should take.
The sanctions available to the Hearing Panel are set out in
Appendix Four. The Hearing Panel will then return and the
Chair will advise the Member of its decision.

Page 38

Non-Co-operation
4.6
Where the Investigating Officer states that any Member or Officer of
the Authority has failed to co-operate wholly or in part with the
procedure, the Hearing Panel will consider whether to make a formal
complaint to the Standards Committee or to the relevant authority,
respectively, about such failure to co-operate.
Costs
4.7
Where the Investigating Officer secures the attendance of any person
to give evidence to the Hearing Panel, the Authority will reimburse
any reasonable costs which the person may incur in so attending.
Additional Evidence
4.8
A Hearing Panel may at any stage prior to the conclusion of the
hearing adjourn the hearing and require the Monitoring Officer to seek
further information or undertake further investigation on any point
specified by the Hearing Panel; but the Hearing Panel shall not
adjourn the hearing on more than one occasion under these
provisions.

5. Notice of Findings of Hearing Panel and Confidentiality of
Information
Report to Standards Committee
5.1
As soon as reasonably practicable after the Hearing Panel has made
its determination in respect of an allegation, the Monitoring Officer will
give written notice of that determination and the reasons for such
determination to:
(a)

the Member who is the subject of that determination;

(b)

the Investigating Officer;

(c)

the Standards Committee;

(d)

the Independent Person;

(e)

the Standards Committee of any other local authority of which
the Member is, or was at the time of the alleged misconduct, a
Member; and

(f)

any person who made the allegation that gave rise to the
investigation; and

subject to paragraph 5.2 below, arrange for a summary of the finding to
be published on the Council’s website.
5.2

Where the Hearing Panel determines that there has not been a breach
of the Code of Conduct:

Page 39

5.3

5.4

(a)

the notice under paragraph 6.1 will state that the Hearing Panel
found that the Member concerned had not failed to comply with
the Code of Conduct of the and will give its reasons for reaching
that finding; and

(b)

if the Member concerned so requests, the Monitoring Officer will
not publish a summary of the finding in any local newspaper.

Where the Hearing Panel determines that there has been a failure to
comply with 6.1 the notice will:
(a)

state that the Hearing Panel found that the Member concerned
had failed to comply with Code of Conduct of this or another
Council but that no action needs to be taken in respect of that
failure;

(b)

specify the details of the failure;

(c)

give reasons for the decision reached by Hearing Panel; and

Where the Hearing Panel determines that there has been a failure to
comply with the Code of Conduct and that a sanction should be
imposed, the notice under paragraph 6.1 will:
(a)

state that the Hearing Panel found that the Member concerned
had failed to comply with the Code of Conduct of this or the
Code of Conduct of another Council;

(b)

specify the details of the failure;

(c)

give reasons for the decision reached by the Hearing Panel;

(d)

specify the sanction imposed,

Confidentiality
5.5
No Member or Officer of the Authority shall disclose any information
which he/she has obtained in the course of an investigation or in
pursuance of this Procedure except in the circumstances set out
below:

Page 40

(a)

the disclosure is made for the purposes of enabling the
Monitoring Officer or Investigating Officer to carry out his/her
functions or the Hearing Panel to carry out its functions in
relation to the matter;

(b)

the disclosure is made in connection with the investigation and
consideration of an allegation of a breach of an authority's code
of conduct;

(c)

the disclosure is made enabling a Standards Committee or
sub-committee of a Standards Committee to perform any of its
functions in connection with the investigation and consideration
of an allegation of a breach of an authority's code of conduct;

(d)

the person to whom the information relates had consented to the
disclosure;

(e)

the disclosure is made in pursuance of a statutory requirement
for disclosure;

(f)

the information has previously been disclosed to the public with
lawful authority;

(g)

the disclosure is for the purpose of criminal proceedings and the
information in question was not obtained as a result of personal
enquiries of the person subject to the criminal proceedings.

Page 41

Appendix 1 - Public Access to hearings and documents
Hearings will be held in public where possible to make sure that the hearing process
is open and fair.
Confidential information and `exempt information'
1

2

There are two circumstances in which hearings (or parts of hearings) can or
should be held in private.
(a)

A hearing must be held in private where this is necessary to prevent
confidential information being revealed. Confidential information means
information that has been provided by a Government department under
the condition that it must not be revealed, as well as information that
cannot be revealed under any legislation or by a court order.

(b)

The law also gives the Hearing Panel the power to hold a private
meeting to prevent 'exempt information' being revealed to the public.
The categories of 'exempt information' are those set out in Schedule
12A to the Local Government Act 1972 (see Appendix 2). However,
regulations also provide for three additional categories of ‘exempt
information’ in relation to the Hearing Panel.
(i)

Information which is subject to any obligation of confidentiality.

(ii)

Information which relates in any way to matters concerning
national security.

The rules about confidential information are different from the rules about
‘exempt information’. Hearing Panels must hold some parts of a meeting in
private where confidential information is likely to be revealed. However, they
have the discretion to decide whether or not to exclude the public if `exempt
information' may be revealed.

Deciding to withhold ‘exempt information’
3

The Hearing Panel will carefully consider any decision to withhold exempt
information from the public. The Hearing Panel will follow Article 6 of the
European Convention on Human Rights, as there is an obligation to do so
under Section 6(1) of the Human Rights Act 1998.The Hearing Panel has a
duty to act fairly and in line with the rules of natural justice.

4

Article 6 favours public hearings, except in specific circumstances, for
example, in the interests of national security or to protect the private lives of
everyone involved.

5

If the Hearing Panel decides to exclude the public to prevent ‘exempt
information’ being revealed, it will only exclude the public for part of the
proceedings. For example, if a witness' evidence is likely to reveal ‘exempt

Page 42

information’, the public will only have to be excluded while that witness is
giving evidence.
6

If evidence is heard in private, the Chair of the Hearing Panel will warn those
present not to mention that evidence during the public parts of the hearing, or
outside the hearing. The Hearing Panel may also need to use appropriate
initials to protect the identity of witnesses during the hearing and in any public
documentation.

Access to documents
7

As a general principle, the agenda and reports to be discussed at a Hearing
Panel will be available to the public before and during a hearing. The
Investigating Officer’s report will be one of the reports before the Hearing
Panel.

8

However, the Head of Legal and Democratic Services has the power to
prevent any part of a report being made public if it relates to a part of the
meeting which, in his or her opinion, is likely to be held in private.

9

After a hearing, sections of the Hearing Panel's reports, which relate to parts
of the hearing held in private, will not have to be made available for public
inspection. The same principle applies to the minutes of any hearing.

10

When considering whether or not to exclude the public from a hearing, the
Hearing Panel will also need to say which parts of the reports before the
hearing are not to be made available for public inspection.

11

Copies of the agenda, reports and minutes of a hearing, as well as any
background papers, will be available for public inspection for a specific period
of up to six years after that hearing has taken place.

Page 43

Appendix 2 - “Exempt Information”
Categories of exempt information under Schedule 12A of the Local Government
Act 1972.
1

Information relating to any individual.

2

Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual.

3

Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular
person (including the authority holding that information).

4

Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated
consultations or negotiations, in connection with any labour relations matter
arising between the authority or a Minister of the Crown and employees of,
or office holders under, the authority.

5

Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could
be maintained in legal proceedings.

6

Information which reveals that the authority proposes -

7

(a)

to give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of which
requirements are imposed on a person; or

(b)

to make an order or direction under any enactment.

Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the
prevention, investigation or prosecution of crime.

Source: Appendix 2 is an extract from the Local Government Act 1972.

Page 44

Appendix 3 - Exclusion of Press and Public
Issues for Consideration
1

At the meeting, the Hearing Panel will consider as a preliminary point whether
to exclude the press and public from the meeting, or any part of the meeting.

2

The Hearing Panel must act in accordance with Article 6 of the European
Convention on Human Rights, which gives a right to a fair and public hearing
by an independent and impartial tribunal. Article 6 provides that judgement
shall be pronounced publicly, but that the press and public may be excluded
from all or part of the "trial" in the interests of:
(a)

Morals

(b)

public order

(c)

national security in a democratic society

(d)

where the interests of juveniles or the protection of the private life of
the parties so require or

(e)

in special circumstances where publicity would prejudice the interests
of justice.

Accordingly, the presumption is in favour of a public hearing unless either the
Member or Investigating Officer can demonstrate over-riding reasons within
one of the five headings above for the press and public to be excluded.
3

Article 8 of the European Convention on Human Rights provides that
everyone has the right to respect for their private and family life, home and
correspondence. It provides that there shall be no interference by a public
authority (such as the Hearing Panel) with the exercise of this right except
such as is:
(a)

in accordance with the law (such as the requirements for publication of
the agenda, reports and background papers set out in Section 100A to
100K of the Local Government Act 1972), and

(b)

necessary in a democratic society in the interests of:
(i)

national security

(ii)

public safety

(iii)

the economic well-being of the country

(iv)

the prevention of crime or disorder

Page 45

(v)

(vi)

the protection of health and morals (which would include the
protection of standards of conduct in public life) or

the protection of the rights and freedoms of others.

There is a clear public interest in promoting the probity of public authorities and
public confidence, so that the presumption of a public hearing set out in Article
6 would appear to come within the exception set out in paragraph (b)(v) above,
unless either the Investigating Officer or the Member demonstrates to the
Hearing Panel's satisfaction that a public hearing is not necessary for that
purpose and that the interest of protecting the privacy of the Member or of the
should over-ride that public interest.
4

Where the Hearing Panel concludes that the interest of protecting the privacy of
the Member or of the Authority should over-ride the public interest in a public
hearing, the Hearing Panel remains bound by the provisions of the Local
Government Act 1972, as primary legislation, so that it may only exclude press
and public from all or part of the meeting if it is satisfied that admitting the press
and public would be likely to lead to disclosure of exempt information. In that
case, the Hearing Panel has a discretion under Section 100A(4) of the Local
Government Act 1972, and would need to resolve whether or not to exclude the
press and public.

5

Where the Hearing Panel does not resolve to exclude the press and public from
the meeting, the Head of Legal and Democratic Services will then be required
to provide copies of the agenda and reports to the press and public and other
members of the Authority, and to permit inspection of any background papers.

Page 46

Appendix 4 - Sanctions available to the Hearing Panel
A

Sanctions available in respect of a Member who has ceased to be a Member
at the date of the Hearing Panel

1

Censure of the Member

B

Sanctions available in respect of a Member who remains a Member at the
date of the Hearing Panel

Any one, or a combination, of the following:
1

Censure of the Member;

2

Recommending to Full Council, or to the Town or Parish Council that the
Member be removed from any or all Committees or Sub-Committees;

3

Recommending to Full Council, or to the Town or Parish Council, that the
Member be removed from all outside appointments to which s/he has been
appointed or nominated by the authority

4

Recommending to Full Council, or to the Town or Parish Council, that the
Member’s access and use of resources of the Authority be restricted for a
maximum period of six months, provided that any such restrictions imposed
upon the Member –
(a)

are reasonable and proportionate to the nature of the breach; and

(b)

do not unduly restrict the Member's ability to perform his functions and
duties as a Member;

5

A requirement that the Member submit a written apology.

6

A requirement that that Member undertake training as specified by the
Hearing Panel.

7

A requirement that that Member undertake conciliation as specified by the
Hearing Panel.

Page 47

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 4: Final Investigation Report COM 364

Page 49

This page is intentionally left blank

COMPLAINT AGAINST CLLR PETE MOLLOY
INVESTIGATION REPORT
Introduction

1. I have been appointed by Durham County Council’s (“DCC”) Governance Solicitor to
investigate two complaints against Cllr Pete Molloy (

COM364).

2. I am a barrister specialising in local government law and am an experienced investigator of
complaints against councillors.
The complaints

Page 51

Page 52

COM364
9. The second complaint (COM364) was submitted by a member of the public, Rebecca
Redfern, and concerns a large number of Facebook posts published by Cllr Molloy said to
express “racist views, religious discrimination and sexual orientation discrimination.”

A

number of the posts were published before Cllr Molloy’s election 1 and therefore the
Governance Solicitor has ruled those posts out from this investigation. Screenshots of the
relevant posts (those published after Cllr Molloy’s election) are enclosed with this report in
Appendix 2.
10. Cllr Molloy provided a written response to the complaint. He stated that the posts were
published on his personal Facebook page and therefore were not subject to the Code of
Conduct. He also stated that the posts had not been removed by Facebook for violating their
terms of service and that he had not been the subject of any criminal investigation as a result
of the posts.
Governance Solicitor’s decisions
11. The Governance Solicitor referred

COM364 for investigation.

In her decision notice for COM364, she drew particular

attention to the need to investigate Cllr Molloy’s use of his personal Facebook page and the
extent to which his activity on that page could be viewed as done in his official capacity.
Investigation process

12. As part of this investigation, I considered the initial complaints and Cllr Molloy’s written
responses to them. I exchanged emails about the complaints with Cllr Molloy and have also
reviewed his two Facebook pages.

13. I circulated a draft copy of this report to Cllr Molloy,

and Ms Redfern. Cllr Molloy

responded with comments limited to my provisional conclusion that he was acting in his

1

Cllr Molloy was elected onto STC in 2019 and onto DCC in 2021. All of the posts pre-date his
election to DCC and therefore the relevant Code of Conduct is STC’s.

Page 53

official capacity for the purposes of COM364.

The Code

14. As a member of STC, Cllr Molloy is subject to the Members’ Code of Conduct (“the Code”).
The relevant provisions are as follows:
1.2

... the code applies whenever you: conduct the business of the Council
(including the business of your office as an elected councillor or co-opted
member); or act, claim to act or give the impression you are acting as a
representative of the Council.

2.1

Members ... of Spennymoor Town Council ... are expected to undertake their
duties as follows:

2.4

... in particular:
(j)

Always treat people with respect, including the organisations and
public they engage with and work alongside;
Respect means politeness and courtesy in behaviour, speech, and in
the written word. Debate and having different views are all part of a
healthy democracy. Members should express, challenge, criticise
and disagree with views, ideas, opinions and policies in a robust but
civil manner. Members must not, however, subject individuals,
groups of people or organisations to personal attack.
Members should treat members of the public politely and
courteously. Rude and offensive behaviour lowers the public’s
expectations and confidence in Members. Members equally have a
right to expect respectful behaviour from the public. If members of
the public are being abusive, intimidatory or threatening, Members
may stop any conversation or interaction in person or online and
report them to the local authority, the relevant social media provider
or the police. This also applies to fellow Members, where appropriate
action could then be taken under the Code of Conduct, and local
authority employees, where concerns should be raised in line with
the local authority’s relevant protocols.

(n)

Not to bring the role of Member or the local authority into disrepute
and be aware that the actions and behaviour of a Member are
subject to greater scrutiny than that of ordinary members of the
public.

The law

15. Cllr Molloy has the right of freedom of expression, which is protected under Article 10 of the
European Convention on Human Rights. This right includes the freedom to hold and express
opinions and thus protects the right to criticise, speculate and make value judgments.
Statements on political issues or other matters of general interest attract enhanced protection
under the law, meaning that there are relatively few limits which can be imposed on “political

Page 54

speech”. As a result, even statements which offend, shock or disturb may be protected by
the law.2
16. However, freedom of expression is not an absolute right, which means that speech which
spreads, incites, promotes or justifies violence, hatred or intolerance may be lawfully
restricted.3
17. In practice, it can be very difficult to draw a distinction between lawful and unlawful speech
and there is a need to carefully balance the rights of individuals to express points of view
which others may find insulting or offensive against the rights of others to be protected from
hatred and discrimination.
18. An example of offensive speech which was found not to be protected under Article 10 is
Norwood v United Kingdom.4 Shortly after the 9/11 attacks, the defendant (Mr Norwood)
displayed a poster in his window which depicted the Twin Towers on fire and read “Islam out
of Britain – Protect the British People”. He was convicted of a religiously-aggravated public
order offence. His complaint to the European Court of Human Rights that his conviction
violated his right to freedom of expression was dismissed on the basis that
“the words and images on the poster amounted to a public expression of attack on all
Muslims in the United Kingdom ... [which was] incompatible with the values
proclaimed and guaranteed by the Convention, notably tolerance, social peace and
non-discrimination.”

Official capacity
19. Cllr Molloy has argued that the Facebook posts which are the subject of COM364 were made
in his private rather than official capacity and therefore were not subject to the Code.
20. There is no legal definition of “official capacity”. The Code potentially regulates conduct on
social media: the question is whether, in publishing these posts, Cllr Molloy was acting,
claiming to act or giving the impression he was acting as a representative of the Council.
21. The Committee on Standards in Public Life considered the issue of official capacity and
social media in its report, Ethical Standards in Local Government.
leading authority in this field.

The Committee is a

Its terms of reference explain that it exists to provide

independent advice on the conduct of all holders of public office, including local government
councillors. The Committee’s first report formulated the “Nolan principles” – seven principles
2

Handyside v United Kingdom (1979-80) 1 EHRR 737
Erbakan v Turkey (App. No. 59405/00)
4
(2005) 40 EHRR SE11
3

Page 55

of public life – which have now been enshrined in law and underpin all statutory codes of
conduct, including STC’s Code.5
22. In its report, the Committee cited guidance on this issue from the Public Services
Ombudsman for Wales, which states:
“If you refer to yourself as councillor, the code will apply to you. This applies in
conversation, in writing, or in your use of electronic media. There has been a
significant rise in complaints to me concerning the use of Facebook, blogs and
Twitter. If you refer to your role as councillor in any way or comments you make are
clearly related to your role then the code will apply to any comments you make there.
Even if you do not refer to your role as councillor, your comments may have the effect
of bringing your office or authority into disrepute ...”

23. The Committee endorsed this approach and set out the following guidance, which is worth
quoting in full:
“The widespread use of social media presents a particular challenge to determining
whether a code of conduct applies to instances of behaviour. In line with the guidance
provided in Wales, it is clear to us that when a social media account identifies the
individual as a councillor or an individual makes comments related to their role as a
councillor, then the code of conduct applies. This would be the case even if the
individual posts a ‘disclaimer’ to suggest that the account is a personal one.
However, a number of recent cases also suggest to us that high standards are
expected of public office holders in their use of social media, even when this purports
to be in a personal capacity. What is relevant is not just whether an individual is
acting in a official capacity or a personal capacity, but also whether the behaviour
itself is in public or in private. Restrictions on what an individual may do or say in
public are different in kind from restrictions on an individual’s private life.
There is a need to balance the rights and responsibilities of democratic
representatives. The sort of public behaviour that is relevant to a public office and its
code of conduct therefore depends on the scope and nature of the public role in
question: the requirements for civil servants will rightly be different to the
requirements for teachers, for example. Roles representing the public, such as MPs
or councillors, have particular privileges that need to be protected, but also need to
acknowledge a greater responsibility, given the scope and public visibility of the role.
Inevitably, councillors carry their council ‘label’ to some extent in their public
behaviour. What counts as relevant public behaviour for the purpose of the councillor
code of conduct should therefore be drawn more broadly.
An individual’s private life – that is, private behaviour in a personal capacity – should
rightly remain out of scope. This includes, for example, what is said in private
conversations (where those conversations are not in an official capacity), private
disputes and personal relationships. But those in high-profile representative roles,
including councillors, should consider that their behaviour in public is rightly under
public scrutiny and should adhere to the Seven Principles of Public Life. This includes
any comments or statements in print, and those made whilst speaking in public or on
publicly accessible social media sites.”

5

section 28(1) of the Localism Act 2011

Page 56

24. I propose to follow the Committee’s approach to official capacity and social media in this
investigation.

Page 57

Page 58

Page 59

.

COM364

43. My findings in relation to COM364 are as follows.

Page 60

Official capacity
44. Cllr Molloy operates two separate pages on Facebook.
45. The first is “Councillor Pete Molloy” in which he describes himself as a “Town Councillor for
the Spennymoor Ward and County Councillor for the Spennymoor Division.” Cllr Molloy
regularly uses this page to post on local issues affecting and of interest to his constituents. It
would be fair to say that all of his activity on this page would be subject to the Code.
46. The second is “Pete Molloy” in which he describes himself as a “ginger haired Scouser” and
a “Signaller and Assault Pioneer at King’s Regiment.” The content of this page is, for the
most part, unrelated to Cllr Molloy’s role as a member of STC and DCC. A sample of his
recent posts include posts about local job vacancies and posts marking St George’s Day, VJ
Day and Remembrance Sunday.
47. However, having reviewed the timeline for the “Pete Molloy” page, I also found a number of
occasions when Cllr Molloy re-posted material from his “Councillor Pete Molloy” page and
other posts in which he identified himself as a councillor, including a long post published on
12 July 2019 commenting on STC’s arrangements for Remembrance Sunday.
48. On balance, I consider that these posts should be viewed as having been published in Cllr
Molloy’s official capacity:
(a) the two pages are not completely independent of one another, given that content from
Cllr Molloy’s “councillor” page has been shared from time to time on the “Pete Molloy”
page;
(b) Cllr Molloy has expressly identified himself as a councillor on the “Pete Molloy” page in
posts which are still publicly accessible on his timeline;
(c) the “Pete Molloy” page is publicly-accessible to any Facebook user and therefore Cllr
Molloy’s activity on it is not done in private. As the Committee on Standards in Public
Life observed:
“... those in high-profile representative roles, including councillors, should
consider that their behaviour in public is rightly under public scrutiny and
should adhere to the Seven Principles of Public Life. This includes any
comments or statements in print, and those made whilst speaking in public or
on publicly accessible social media sites.”

Page 61

49. On this latter point, Cllr Molloy told me that the privacy setting on his “Pete Molloy” profile
was set to “friends” rather than “public”. In my draft report, I had stated that the profile was
“publicly accessible to any internet user”.

I accept that this was incorrect; the profile is

publicly accessible to any Facebook user. I was able to view the profile and the posts on the
timeline while logged into Facebook despite not being “friends” with Cllr Molloy.6
50. Nonetheless, I stand by the conclusion stated in my draft report that Cllr Molloy’s activity on
his “Pete Molloy” profile is done in public bearing in mind the enormous number of people
who use Facebook and would therefore have access to activity on that profile. To put this in
context, the “Spennymoor – What’s happening?” group has around 14,000 members in a
town with a population of around 20,000.
51. Therefore I consider that these posts fall within the scope of the Code and will go onto
consider whether they constitute a breach.
The posts
52. The posts which are the subject of this complaint appear in Appendix 2. I do not propose to
analyse each one but, having reviewed them, at least two troubling themes emerge.
53. Firstly, a number of the posts clearly express Islamophobic views:
(a) a post published on 12 October 2019 includes the statement “... at the end of the day,
let’s be honest, we don’t want Muslims here and they don’t want us here!”
(b) a post published on 12 July 2019, responding to a Daily Mail article with the headline
“Half of Germany sees Islam as a threat, survey claims”, in which Cllr Molloy commented
“Well it is!”
(c) a post published on 6 July 2019 stating “I wonder why these Muslim owned takeaways
employ English girlrs and not not thee [sic] own girls!!”
54. I do not consider that these posts are protected under Article 10. Criticism of a religion is
generally protected. However, these posts do not express legitimate criticism of the Islamic
faith; they express a general attack against all Muslims and deny the right of Muslims to live
in this country.

6

those posts were still visible at the time of finalising this report.

Page 62

55. In the Norwood case (see paragraph 18 above), the European Court of Human Rights noted
that Article 17 of the European Convention on Human Rights prevents Convention Rights
(such as Article 10) from being relied on to “engage in any activity or perform any act aimed
at the destruction of the rights and freedoms” of others. Thus in the Norwood case, the Court
described the defendant’s “Islam out of Britain” poster as:
“... a public expression of attack on all Muslims in the United Kingdom. Such a
general, vehement attack against a religious group, linking the group as a whole with
a grave act of terrorism, is incompatible with the values proclaimed and guaranteed
by the Convention, notably tolerance, social peace and non-discrimination. The
applicant's display of the poster in his window constituted an act within the meaning
of Article 17, which did not, therefore, enjoy the protection of [Article] 10.”

56. I consider that the same can be said of Cllr Molloy’s posts. Accordingly these posts are not a
legitimate exercise of the right of freedom of expression and can, in principle, be subject to
sanction under the Code.
57. I have no hesitation in concluding that these posts breach paragraph 2.4(j) of the Code.
Not only do they single out a specific group – Muslims – for offensive treatment; they offend
against anyone who values democratic principles, such as pluralism, mutual respect and
tolerance.
58. Secondly, one of the posts directly indicates support for a white supremacist conspiracy
theory.

A post published on 27 September 2019 links to an article on a dubious news

website with the headline “Still Deceiving Yourself That Population Replacement Is a
Conspiracy Theory?” The article peddles the well-known white supremacist conspiracy that
the white population of Europe is being demographically and culturally replaced by mass
migration. When read alongside other posts which refer to “we, white British” (9 August
2019) and “ethnically British” people (19 September 2019), or imply that “those that hate
Britain and our way of life” should leave the country (16 July 20197), it is fair to conclude that
these posts are racist. Again, statements which are “incompatible with ... tolerance, social
peace and non-discrimination” are not protected by law and therefore may be sanctioned
under the Code. In respect of the four posts referred to in this paragraph, I conclude that
they also breach paragraph 2.4(j) of the Code, in that they express racist views.
59. For these reasons, I would uphold COM364.

7

this post linked to an article reporting on President Trump’s widely-condemned, racist comments
that four female American Senators of colour should “go back [to the] totally broken and crimeinfested places from which they came.”

Page 63

Conclusion

60. In summary:

(b) I find that a number of Cllr Molloy’s Facebook posts – published in his official capacity –
express Islamophobic and racist views and therefore breach paragraph 2.4(j) of the Code
in that they fail to show respect to others.
Matt Lewin
Cornerstone Barristers
11 October 2021
Appendices
1.
2. COM 364: Ms Redfern’s complaint (including screenshots),
3.
4. COM 364: Cllr Molloy’s response to complaint, 27 July 2021
5.
6. COM 364: Governance Solicitor’s decision notice, 13 August 2021
7.
8. COM 364: Cllr Molloy’s response to draft report, 20-21 September 2021

Page 64

Page 65

Page 66

Page 67

Page 68

Appendix 2

Page 69

Page 70

Page 71

Page 72

Page 73

Page 74

Page 75

Page 76

Page 77

Page 78

Page 79

Page 80

Page 81

Page 82

Page 83

Page 84

Page 85

Page 86

Page 87

Page 88

Page 89

Page 90

Page 91

Page 92

Page 93

’.
.

Page 94

Page 95

Page 96

Page 97

Page 98

Page 99

Page 100

Page 101

Page 102

Page 103

Page 104

Page 105

Appendix 4

Response to Complaint 364 – Rebecca Redfern
I have had a complaint made against me by a Ms Rebecca Redfern, that I have
breached Spennymoor Town Council’s Members Code of Conduct by what she
claims to be ‘racist views, religious discrimination and sexual orientation
discrimination’ on my personal facebook page for personal use, which is separate
from my Councillor facebook page that I use for Council related business.
The Member Code of Conduct paragraphs that are being claimed that I have
breached are:
1. he/she shall behave in such a way that a reasonable person would regard as
respectful at all times, and not bring the Town Council or their office into disrepute;
2. he/she shall not act in a way which a reasonable person would regard as bullying
or intimidatory;
3. he/she shall not seek to improperly confer an advantage or disadvantage on any
person;
6. he/she must comply with any Standing Orders, policies and procedures adopted
by the Council which seek to regulate the conduct of its elected Members;
Due to the posts being on my personal facebook page and with those posts making
no reference to me being a town councillor, mentioning Spennymoor Town Council
or any link to me being involved in any form of local government and despite anyone
on facebook being able to view those posts, it cannot be determined that I was a
councillor at the time of posting them. I do not believe that I was governed by the
Member Code of Conduct of Spennymoor Town Council or any other local authority,
so I have not breached it.
Facebook have rules, which are called ‘Community Standards’ on posts that have
such allegedly racist views, religious discrimination and sexual orientation
discrimination contained in them and when facebook come across such posts it
removes those posts and informs the person that their post has breached their
Community Standards and can block that person from using their personal account
for a set number of days.
Since Ms Redfern or any other person that wants to view those posts can still see
them, means I have not breached facebook’s Community Standards and did not
receive a block from my facebook account for a set period of time. Therefore, my
posts are within facebook’s Community Standards.

Page 106

Ms Redfern also states, “Posts inciting religious, gender and race discrimination do
not appear to have been shared on his separate Councillor Pete Molloy Facebook
page.”
There has been no investigation into these posts by the police, so therefore, no
prosecution that has established that I have broken any discrimination or equality
laws to establish that my posts are inciting religious, gender and race discrimination.
Ms Redfern claims that I cannot represent the community fairly due to the allegations
she has made against, but this is not true and she obviously is not aware of the work
I do in the community.
I was first elected onto the town council in May 2019, and in the September I was
asked by the Indian owners of The Crown take away on Whitworth Terrace,
Spennymoor, if I could I do anything about the drains, because they felt there was a
blockage and affecting their business premises. I reported the issue a on the 9th
September, 2019, FS-Case-136484351.
Ms Redfern states in her second to last paragraph: “Referring back to section 3
‘When a member of the Council acts, claims to act or gives the impression of acting
as a representative of the Council, he/she has the following obligations:’ by sharing
posts from his councillor page using his personal page this shows that Pete Molloy is
‘giving the impression of acting as a representative of the Council’ and therefore all
posts on his personal Facebook page should be considered in my complaint.”
Sharing my councillor page is automatically done through my personal page when I
share it, because it is not on a separate facebook account and when I share posts
from other organisations and individuals, it is also done through my personal page
too.
With this in mind, I do not agree with Ms Redfern that I am giving the impression of
acting as a representative of the council by using my personal facebook page to
share my councillor page, because if that was the case it would also mean that I am
giving the impression of acting as a representative of other organisations and
individuals for sharing their respective posts too. Also, according to Ms Redfern’s
interpretation of me giving the impression of acting as a representative of the council
for sharing my councillor page by using my personal facebook page, this would also
have to apply to any person using their personal facebook page to share my
councillor page and they too would be giving the impression of acting as a
representative of the council, which they are not.
Article 10.1 of the Human Rights Act 1998 states: ‘Everyone has the right to freedom
of expression. This right shall include freedom to hold opinions and to receive and
impart information and ideas without interference by public authority and regardless

Page 107

of frontiers. This Article shall not prevent States from requiring the licensing of
broadcasting, television or cinema enterprises.’
In a democratic society it is important that all opinions on a wide range of issues can
be freely expressed and discussed, even if those opinions are unpalatable for some
to hear. This is exactly what I was doing when I posted on my personal facebook
page.
I have a long political history in Spennymoor dating back to 2009, from when I first
moved there from Liverpool, so I think it is worth noting the length of time it has taken
Ms Redfern to submit her complaint due to the dates on the posts and with her
growing up in the town she would be well aware that I was elected onto the town
council in May, 2019, and could have brought her complaint much sooner if she is
genuinely concerned.
Cllr Pete Molloy

Page 108

Page 109

Page 110

Page 111

Page 112

Appendix 6

DECISION NOTICE:
INVESTIGATION
Complaint Reference - COM 364
On 9 August 2021 Governance Solicitor considered a complaint from Rebecca
Redfern concerning the alleged conduct of Councillor Pete Molloy of
Spennymoor Town Council, in accordance with Durham County Council’s
Procedure for Local Assessment of Complaints (“the Procedure”).
The Procedure requires the Monitoring Officer to ensure that all Code of Conduct
complaints are assessed as soon as reasonably possible, and normally within 20
working days. The Monitoring Officer, in consultation with the Independent
Person where appropriate, will ensure that the complaint is considered and
decide if any action should be taken on it.
The Monitoring Officer has delegated responsibility for the initial assessment of
Code of Conduct Complaints to the Governance Solicitor.
Following initial assessment of the complaint, there are four possible outcomes:





That no action should be taken in respect of the complaint
To seek local resolution
To refer the complaint for investigation
To refer the complaint to the Standards Committee

Where the complaint is against a person who is no longer a Member of the
Council, but is a member of another relevant authority, it may be referred to the
Monitoring Officer of that other relevant authority if this is more appropriate.
This decision notice is produced to record the decision taken following initial
assessment and includes the main points considered, the conclusion and the
reasons for that conclusion. It will be available for inspection at the offices of the
Council for six years beginning with the date of the decision. However, the
decision notice will not be made available for inspection until the member who
was the subject of the complaint has received it.

Page 113

Complaint
The Member has posted comments on Facebook which are said to be contrary to
the Code.
Potential breaches of Spennymoor Town Council’s Code of Conduct
The allegations in respect of the complaint relate to a potential breach of the
following paragraphs of the Code of Conduct which was in place at the time of the
complaint:
1. he/she shall behave in such a way that a reasonable person would regard as
respectful at all times, and not bring the Town Council or their office into
disrepute;
2. he/she shall not act in a way which a reasonable person would regard as
bullying or intimidatory;
3. he/she shall not seek to improperly confer an advantage or disadvantage on
any person;
6. he/she must comply with any Standing Orders, policies and procedures
adopted by the Council which seek to regulate the conduct of its elected
Members;
Response of the Member
The posts were made on the Member’s personal Facebook page and do not
reference him being a Town Councillor and therefore the Member Code of Conduct
does not apply.
Facebook has ‘Community Standards’ which block users who make posts which
contain allegedly racist views, religious discrimination and sexual orientation
discrimination. Where Facebook identifies such posts the users are notified that
the post has breached Community Standards and can block that person from using
the personal account. As posts can still be viewed, this is evidence that the
Member has not breached Facebook’s Community Standards
The Member accepts that there is sharing between his personal and Council
account. He explains that this is automatically done through his personal page
when he shares posts as it is not a separate Facebook account. The Member does
not agree that he is giving the impression of acting as a representative of the
Council by sharing his personal Facebook page with his Councillor page.
The Member does not accept that he cannot represent the community fairly and
this can be demonstrated by the work he has undertaken for his community.
The Member relies on his right to freedom of expression, stating that in a
democratic society it is important that all opinions on a wide range of issues can
be freely expressed and discussed, even if those opinions are unpalatable for
some to hear.

Page 114

The Member also consulted with the Independent Person in respect of this
complaint.
Decision
The Governance Solicitor, in consultation with the Independent Person, has
decided that this matter is to be referred for investigation.
Reasons for decision
The Complainant did initially seek to include posts which predate the Member
taking office. Only posts made whilst the Member was in office can be considered
as Member Code of Conduct complaints.
The position of the Member is noted in that he maintains that these posts were
made in his personal capacity and are protected by his right under Article 10,
freedom of expression.
The Local Government Association guidance on the Code of Conduct of 8 July
2021 states:
“The requirement to treat others with respect must be balanced with the right to
Freedom of expression. Article 10 of the European Convention on Human Rights
protects your right to hold your own opinions and to express them freely without
government interference. This includes the right to express your views aloud or
in writing, such as in published articles or leaflets or on the internet and social
media. Protection under Article 10 extends to the expression of views that may
shock, disturb, or offend the deeply-held beliefs of others.
The posts have been subject to attention from both the public and the press, and
are likely to continue to receive attention if they remain visible. It is considered
proportionate to establish through an investigation how the Member uses the
Facebook account and the interaction between the personal and official profiles,
having specific regard to whether automatic sharing between the two profiles
would be considered as acting in or giving the impression of acting in an official
capacity. After establishing whether the posts were made in an official capacity
or giving the impression of acting in an official capacity, it can then be
determined whether the posts would amount to a breach of the Code with due
regard to the rights of the Member under Article 10.
This decision notice is sent to the complainant, the Clerk to Spennymoor Town
Council and the Member against whom the allegations were made.
Right of Appeal
Code of Conduct complaints are governed by the provisions set out in the
Localism Act 2011. The Localism Act 2011 does not allow a right of appeal and
this decision is final.
Terms of reference
The Localism Act 2011

Page 115

Signed

K.Coulson-Patel

Kamila Coulson-Patel
Governance Solicitor
Date: 13 August 2021

Page 116

Page 117
8

Page 118

Page 119

Page 120

Page 121

Page 122

Page 123

Page 124

Page 125

Page 126

Page 127

Page 128

Appendix 8
Subject: Re: Confidential - Complaints against Cllr Pete Molloy
From: Cllr Pete Molloy <Pete.Molloy@durham.gov.uk>
Date: 20/09/2021, 22:58
To: Matt Lewin <matthewl@cornerstonebarristers.com>

and COM364

Dear Mr Lewin,
Thank you for your draft report.
In paragraph 41 (c), you state:
“The “Pete Molloy” page is publicly-accessible to any internet user and therefore Cllr
Molloy’s activity on it is not done in private.”
My profile is not set to ‘public’, but set to ‘friends’ and has had this setting for some
years now. This should mean that only people on my friends list can view my profile
and not any internet user.
Regards,
Cllr Pete Molloy

Get Outlook for iOS
From: Ma$ Lewin <ma$hewl@cornerstonebarristers.com>
Sent: Sunday, September 19, 2021 9:10:31 PM
To: Kamila Coulson-Patel <K.Coulson-Patel@durham.gov.uk>
Subject: ConﬁdenKal - Complaints against Cllr Pete Molloy

and COM364

Dear all,
Please see attached my draft investigation reports for

and COM 364.

This report is confidential and should not be shared with anyone else. Please let me know your comments on the report by
5pm on 30 September 2021.
I can confirm the report has been shared with Cllr Molloy and the two complainants.
Kind regards,
Matt Lewin

-Matt Lewin
Cornerstone Barristers

Page 129
1 of 2

11/10/2021, 14:22

Re: Confidential - Complaints against Cllr Pete Molloy COM36...

Subject: Re: Confidential - Complaints against Cllr Pete Molloy
From: Cllr Pete Molloy <Pete.Molloy@durham.gov.uk>
Date: 21/09/2021, 09:31
To: Matt Lewin <matthewl@cornerstonebarristers.com>

and COM364

Dear Mr Lewin,
Even though I don’t agree that I was acting in my capacity as a town councillor when
making posts on my personal Facebook page, I have realised there is something missing
from your report, which I feel is very much relevant.
I am referring to mandatory training in the form of an induction to the role and
responsibilities of a town councillor for newly elected people into that position.
When I first got elected in May 2019, I wasn’t given any mandatory training in the form
of an induction on the role and responsibilities of a town councillor. What did happen
was being given a load of photocopied town council policies and signed some forms.
This same practice was repeated after the 2021 local elections.
I would think that the town council should have a duty of care to councillors, especially
those newly elected councillors, to ensure they are fully aware of all aspects of their role
and responsibilities through a mandatory induction, which would not only support
councillors, but clear up any ambiguity.
Regards,
Cllr Pete Molloy

Get Outlook for iOS
From: Cllr Pete Molloy <Pete.Molloy@durham.gov.uk>
Sent: Monday, September 20, 2021 10:58 pm
To: MaB Lewin
Subject: Re: ConﬁdenHal - Complaints against Cllr Pete Molloy

and COM364

Dear Mr Lewin,
Thank you for your draft report.
In paragraph 41 (c), you state:
“The “Pete Molloy” page is publicly-accessible to any internet user and therefore Cllr
Molloy’s activity on it is not done in private.”
My profile is not set to ‘public’, but set to ‘friends’ and has had this setting for some
years now. This should mean that only people on my friends list can view my profile
and not any internet user.
Regards,
Page 130
1 of 3

11/10/2021, 14:23

Re: Confidential - Complaints against Cllr Pete Molloy COM36...

Cllr Pete Molloy

Get Outlook for iOS
From: MaB Lewin <maBhewl@cornerstonebarristers.com>
Sent: Sunday, September 19, 2021 9:10:31 PM
To: Kamila Coulson-Patel <K.Coulson-Patel@durham.gov.uk>
Subject: ConﬁdenHal - Complaints against Cllr Pete Molloy

and COM364

Dear all,
Please see attached my draft investigation reports for

and COM 364.

This report is confidential and should not be shared with anyone else. Please let me know your comments on the report by
5pm on 30 September 2021.
I can confirm the report has been shared with Cllr Molloy and the two complainants.
Kind regards,
Matt Lewin

-Matt Lewin
Cornerstone Barristers

Cornerstone Barristers and its members are regulated by the Bar Standards Board.
Cornerstone Terms of Business
This e-mail and any attachments are confidential and may also be privileged. If you are not the named recipient, please notify the sender immediately and
do not disclose the contents to any other person use it for any purpose or store or copy the information.
We make every effort to keep our network free from viruses. However, you do need to verify that this e-mail and any attachments are free of viruses as we
can take no responsibility for any computer virus which might be transferred by way of this e-mail.

Customer Notice
We have recently updated our terms and conditions for all our services, including making some important updates to our privacy
notices. To find out more about how we collect, use, share and retain your personal data, visit: www.durham.gov.uk/dataprivacy

Help protect our environment by only printing this email if absolutely necessary. The information it contains and any files transmitted with it are
confidential and are only intended for the person or organisation to whom it is addressed. It may be unlawful for you to use, share or copy the
information, if you are not authorised to do so. If you receive this email by mistake, please inform the person who sent it at the above address and

Page 131
2 of 3

11/10/2021, 14:23

Re: Confidential - Complaints against Cllr Pete Molloy COM36...

then delete the email from your system. Durham County Council takes reasonable precautions to ensure that its emails are virus free. However,
we do not accept responsibility for any losses incurred as a result of viruses we might transmit and recommend that you should use your own virus
checking procedures.

Page 132
3 of 3

11/10/2021, 14:23

Appendix 5: Decision Notice to Panel COM 364

Page 133

This page is intentionally left blank

DECISION NOTICE: HEARING
PANEL
Complaint Reference - COM 364
The Monitoring Officer further considered a complaint from Rebecca Redfern
concerning the alleged conduct of Councillor Pete Molloy of Spennymoor Town
Council, in accordance with Durham County Council’s Procedure for Local
Assessment of Complaints (“the Procedure”).
Further to the decision notice dated 13 August 2021, the complaint was referred
for investigation. The investigator’s final report has now been received. The
investigator has concluded that there has been been a breach of the Member
Code of Conduct.
In accordance with the Procedure, where the investigation finds evidence of a
failure to comply with the Code of Conduct, the Monitoring Officer in consultation
with the Independent Person, may seek local resolution to the satisfaction of the
complainant in appropriate cases. Where local resolution is not appropriate or
possible, the investigation findings will be reported to a Hearings Panel of the
Standards Committee for local determination.
This summary decision is produced to record the decision taken following
completion of the investigation and includes the main points considered, the
conclusion and reasons for that conclusion. It will be available for inspection at
the offices of the Council for 6 years beginning with the date of the decision.
However, the summary will not be made available for inspection until the
member who was the subject of the complaint has received the written summary
of the decision.

KCP / 030324

Page 1

Page 135

Complaint
This is a complaint by a member of the public and concerns a large number of
Facebook posts published by the Member which are said to express “racist
views, religious discrimination and sexual orientation discrimination.” A number
of the posts were published before the Member taking office and therefore the
those posts are considered out of scope from this investigation.
Spennymoor Town Council Council’s Code of Conduct
The following paragraph of the Town Council Code of Conduct has been
identified as a potential breach:
(j)

Always treat people with respect, including the organisations and
public they engage with and work alongside;

Decision
The Monitoring Officer, in consultation with the Independent Person has decided
that the matter should be referred to a Hearing Panel of the Standards
Committee for local determination.
View of the Independent Person
The Independent Person on reviewing the report of the Investigating Officer,
considers that the posts complained of amount to the Member giving the
appearance of acting in his official capacity and therefore agrees that the
Member Code of Conduct is engaged. The Independent Person concurs with the
findings of the Investigating Officer and the recommendation of the Monitoring
Officer to refer this matter to a Hearing Panel.
Reasons for decision
The Member has asserted that his posts were published on his personal
Facebook page and therefore were not subject to the Code of Conduct. He also
stated that the posts had not been removed by Facebook for violating their terms
of service and that he had not been the subject of any criminal investigation as a
result of the posts
The Investigating Officer confirms that there is no legal definition of “official
capacity”. The Code potentially regulates conduct on social media: the question
is whether, in publishing these posts, the Member was acting, claiming to act or
giving the impression he was acting as a representative of the Council.
The Investigating Officer draws upon the Committee on Standards in Public Life
consideration of official capacity and social media in its report, Ethical Standards
in Local Government. The Investigating Officer points to the
cited guidance on this issue from the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales,
which states:
“If you refer to yourself as councillor, the code will apply to you. This applies in
conversation, in writing, or in your use of electronic media. There has been a
significant rise in complaints to me concerning the use of Facebook, blogs and

KCP / 030324

Page 136

Page 2

Twitter. If you refer to your role as councillor in any way or comments you make
are clearly related to your role then the code will apply to any comments you
make there.
Even if you do not refer to your role as councillor, your comments may have the
effect of bringing your office or authority into disrepute ...”
The Investigating Officer finds that a number of the Members Facebook posts –
published in his official capacity – express Islamophobic and racist views and
therefore breach paragraph 2.4(j) of the Code in that they fail to show respect to
others.
In view of the findings of the Investigating Officer and the seriousness of the
allegations, the Monitoring Officer considers that it is appropriate for the Hearing
Panel of the Standards Committee to determine this complaint.
This decision notice is sent to the person making the allegations, the Clerk to
Spennymoor Town Council and the Member against whom the allegations were
made.
Right of appeal
Code of Conduct complaints are governed by the provisions set out in the
Localism Act 2011. The Localism Act 2011 does not allow a right of appeal and
this decision is final.
Terms of reference
The Localism Act 2011
Signed

Helen Lynch
Monitoring Officer
Date: 21 October 2021

KCP / 030324

Page 3

Page 137

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 6: Final Statement to COM 364

Page 139

This page is intentionally left blank

Final statement to COM364
The subject of this complaint is the contents of the screenshots of historical posts
from 2019, that were taken from my personal, and not my Councillor facebook page
and it is only on these posts where the focus should be.
It is obvious by those screenshots of my posts from my personal facebook page
provided in the complaint that I was not acting, claiming to act or giving the
impression that I was acting as a representative of Spennymoor Town Council. This
is because there is no mention of me being a Councillor or the mention of
Spennymoor Town Council in those posts and I was acting in my capacity of a
private person.
With acting in my capacity of a private person on my personal facebook page and
expressing my personal views on national and international issues, I was not
governed by Spennymoor Town Council’s Code of Conduct. Therefore, I did not
breach Section 2.4(j) of the code, so, because I was not governed by the code, there
is no need to discuss the contents of those posts or the subjective opinions of the
Investigating Officer.
I was elected on to Spennymoor Town Council in 2019, and it is fair to say that I am
a very pro-active Councillor and try to do my best, so everyone in the community will
benefit. I would also say, because I am a pro-active Councillor and I do try to do my
best that this is the reason why I was re-elected back onto Spennymoor Town
Council and elected onto Durham County Council.
There has been no evidence provided by the complainant that whilst acting in my
capacity of a Town Councillor that I have breached Section 2.4(j) of the Code of
Conduct. However, I have provided evidence that whilst acting in my capacity of a
Town Councillor that I assisted an Indian business owner with a drainage issue, so I
do treat people with respect.
I believe this complaint is part of the wider vendetta against me that has seen
another five complaints made against me since being re-elected onto Spennymoor
Town Council in May 2021.
Yours sincerely,
Cllr Pete Molloy

Page 141

Page 142

Appendix 7: Final Investigation Report COM 322- COM 324

Page 143

This page is intentionally left blank

COMPLAINT AGAINST CLLR PETE MOLLOY
INVESTIGATION REPORT
Introduction
1. I have been appointed by Durham County Council (“DCC”) to investigate three complaints
against Cllr Pete Molloy, a member of Spennymoor Town Council (“the Council”). I am a
self-employed barrister, specialise in local government law and am an experienced
investigator of complaints against councillors.
The complaints
2. There are three complaints against Cllr Molloy:
(a) COM324: a complaint submitted by the Council’s Clerk, Katherine Hierons, that Cllr
Molloy has bullied her and made an unfounded accusation on Facebook that she had
conspired to make a false allegation of bullying against him;
(b) COM322: a complaint submitted by the Council’s Facilities Manager, Colin Ranson,
about a comment made by Cllr Molloy in a workshop meeting of the Council, and a
subsequent post he published on Facebook, suggesting that Mr Ranson’s post should be
gotten rid of; and
(c) COM323: a complaint submitted by members of the Council regarding Cllr Molloy’s
comments and Facebook posts about Mr Ranson and Ms Hierons.
3. The complaints were referred to Cllr Molloy for initial comment. He denied the allegations
and stated that he had been victimised by the complainants.
4. By a decision dated 13 May 2021, the Governance Solicitor decided that an investigation
was required for each of the complaints, noting the “background of acrimony between the
Member and the Complainants ... the parties have been unable to put the past behind them
and move forward constructively.”
The Code of Conduct

Page
1 145

5. The Council has adopted its own Code of Conduct for members (“the Code”). In section 3,
the Code sets out a number of general obligations which apply to members of the Council
whenever they act, claim to act or give the impression of acting as a representative of the
Council.
6. The relevant obligations are:
1.

he/she shall behave in such a way that a reasonable person would regard as
respectful at all times, and not bring the Town Council or their office into
disrepute

2.

he/she shall not act in a way which a reasonable person would regard as
bullying or intimidatory

5.

he/she shall not share, discuss or disclose information to others which is
confidential or where disclosure is prohibited by law

Investigation process
7. During my investigation, I interviewed Cllr Molloy, Mr Ranson and Ms Hierons over video call.
I also spoke with Cllr Ian Geldard on the phone. I have reviewed minutes, and watched
recordings, of relevant meetings of the Council, which are available on the Council’s website.
I have also been provided with various documents by the parties – including character
references submitted by Christine Sproat (a former member of the Council) and Cllr Clive
Maddison – and confirm that I have read them.
Findings
8. Although there are three separate complaints, there is some degree of overlap between
them. I will report my findings under the following headings:
(a) Cllr Molloy’s behaviour towards Ms Hierons; and
(b) Cllr Molloy’s behaviour towards Mr Ranson;
Cllr Molloy’s behaviour towards Ms Hierons
Alleged behaviour

Page 146

2

9. As I set out in paragraph 2(a) above, there are essentially two allegations made against Cllr
Molloy. Firstly, that he has bullied Ms Hierons. Secondly, that he made an unfounded
accusation on his public Facebook page that Ms Hierons had conspired with another
member of the Council to falsely accuse him of bullying.
10. In her decision notice, the Governance Solicitor noted that there is an unfortunate history to
this complaint.
Previous complaint about Cllr Molloy (COM263)
11. A previous complaint was submitted to DCC on behalf of Ms Hierons (COM263) alleging that
Cllr Molloy had posted inappropriate and derogatory comments about Ms Hierons on a public
Facebook page (“Spennymoor What’s Happening”) and his own public Facebook page
(“Councillor Pete Molloy”) in July 2019.

It is worth noting that these posts accused Ms

Hierons of exceeding her authority as clerk and of controlling a faction of members of the
Council.
12. Cllr Molloy did remove these posts and offered an apology. The complaint was investigated
and ultimately upheld by the Governance Solicitor. She found that Cllr Molloy had behaved
disrespectfully to Ms Hierons, that his initial apology had been insufficient and that he should
make a public apology to her. During that investigation, Cllr Molloy accepted that “he will in
future consider carefully how he [phrases] his communications to the public.”
13. The Governance Solicitor did not find Cllr Molloy’s behaviour to be bullying on this occasion
because it concerned only a single incident. However, significantly, she noted that “there is
no doubt that the repetition of such conduct could amount to a pattern [of bullying behaviour]
and the Member must have regard to this.”
14. Ms Hierons told me that, although Cllr Molloy did subsequently make an apology to her in the
Council chamber, it was “mealymouthed”. She also stated her belief that Cllr Molloy saw the
decision as vindication – in that he was not found to have bullied Ms Hierons – and that this
gave him “carte blanche” to target her. I discussed this incident with Cllr Molloy who told me
that, notwithstanding that he deleted the posts and the apology, he stands by his statements.
Cllr Molloy’s complaints about Ms Hierons
15. Cllr Molloy has submitted two formal complaints about Ms Hierons’ conduct as clerk of the
Council and these form part of Ms Hierons’ complaint of bullying.

Page
3 147

16. The first complaint was submitted in October 2019 and accused Ms Hierons of victimising
him, twice accused her of lying and referred to a “trumped-up [allegation] of bullying her” (i.e.
COM263). The complaint was investigated by Cllr Geldard who recommended mediation but
noted that Cllr Molloy had refused to participate. Although a Special Committee accepted
that recommendation at a meeting on 13 November 2019, I understand that no further action
was taken.
17. The second complaint was submitted in November 2020 and actually consisted of two
separate allegations. Firstly, that Ms Hierons had not remained politically neutral and had
attempted to influence the political decision-making of members at a meeting of the
Constitution Working Party on 7 October 2020.

Secondly, that she had disrespected

Spennymoor’s armed services veterans and residents “by not having the Town’s ceremonial
Union flag to be part of [the] town’s Remembrance Day events.”
18. Some context is required here. During the summer of 2020, with the assistance of several
local veterans’ associations, Cllr Molloy had drafted two proposed policies – on the role of
the Parade Marshal at Remembrance Sunday events and the use of the ceremonial union
flag – for adoption by the Council.

Remembrance Sunday is an important event in

Spennymoor’s civic calendar but there does not seem to be a clear consensus among the
many interested parties within the town about who should be responsible for the organisation
of the event and how the day itself should unfold. Cllr Molloy appears to be a prominent
voice within that debate and, for that reason, he believes he has been targeted by Ms
Hierons.
19. In her summons for a meeting of the Constitution Working Group in October 2020, Ms
Hierons included some commentary on Cllr Molloy’s proposed policies.

She noted that

“Members have no power or authority to write policies for the Town Council – that is the job
of Officers”.

She recommended that members should not adopt the proposed Parade

Marshal policy which was “different to the tradition and precedent which has formed over
many years in Spennymoor and also is very prescriptive.” Finally she also commented that
the proposed flag policy was too prescriptive and that an alternative form should be used. At
the meeting, members voted against adoption of the Parade Marshal policy and the flag
policy was withdrawn without a vote.
20. Cllr Molloy’s complaint accused Ms Hierons of “interference ... with the objective of kicking it
into the long grass to be forgotten about and not to be adopted with local elections next

Page 148

4

year!” Cllr Molloy concluded his complaint by accusing Ms Hierons of disrespecting veterans
“by not allowing their town’s ceremonial Union flag to be carried on Remembrance Day.”
21. This complaint was also referred to a Special Committee of the Council who, at a meeting on
9 December 2020, decided to take no further action.
22. I consider that neither of these complaints was well-founded. In his complaint, Cllr Molloy
suggested that Ms Hieron’s recommendation was contrary to an earlier resolution of the
Working Group.1 However, this resolution did no more than commit the Working Group to
considering the adoption of policies; it did not prevent the Working Group from debating and
rejecting any draft policies presented to it nor the clerk from making recommendations to that
effect.
23. Moreover, the complaints indicate that Cllr Molloy misunderstands the role of the clerk and
unfairly blames her for the failure of his initiatives when these are voted down by his fellow
members. The clerk’s role is to advise and support members in making decisions and then
to implement those decisions. In discharging those responsibilities, Ms Hierons is entitled to
comment – positively or negatively – on items being presented in order to guide members on
the legal, policy, financial (or other) implications of the proposal. Ultimately, however, it is for
members to make the final decision. In my opinion, that is what happened here: Cllr Molloy
put forward proposals, Ms Hierons advised on those proposals and members followed that
advice.
24. It was plainly inaccurate and unfair for Cllr Molloy to suggest that Ms Hierons was seeking to
interfere in the democratic process or that she had disrespected Spennymoor’s veterans as a
result of a decision that she did not make. Ms Hierons was simply doing her job as clerk to
the Council in advising members on what she perceived to be weaknesses in Cllr Molloy’s
proposed policies.
25. I should add that, even though the complaints resulted in no further action, that does not
mean they had no serious consequences for Ms Hierons. The complaints were equivalent to
a grievance and therefore exposed Ms Hierons to the risk of disciplinary action.
Furthermore, while the complaints were not made public, they were shared with members of
the Special Committee and so were given exposure within the Council. Therefore the impact
of these complaints on Ms Hierons – even if they were unfounded and resulted in no formal
action – should not be dismissed out of hand.

1

The motion (proposed by Cllr Molloy himself) that was passed read: “I would like to put forward a

Page
5 149

Facilities and Recreation Committee meeting in December 2019
26. In her complaint, Ms Hierons refers to a meeting of the Council’s Facilities and Recreation
Committee on 10 December 2019, which Cllr Molloy attended. Handwritten notes of the
meeting, taken by another officer, record a debate over arrangements for Remembrance
Sunday.

The notes record Ms Hierons stating that “staff [were] upset about civvies

comment”, which appears to be a reference to Cllr Molloy’s complaint that officers of the
Council – who were not veterans – were not making appropriate arrangements for
Remembrance Sunday events. The notes record Cllr Molloy as saying “with all respect, it’s
her [i.e. Ms Hierons] I’m on about.”
27. On balance, I have decided not to make any findings about this incident. It took place more
than a year before the complaint was submitted and the part of the meeting in which the
statement was allegedly made was closed to the public and therefore there is no recording
for me to view.

In any case, I believe that there is enough evidence relating to other

incidents for me to fairly assess the complaint and make findings.
Constitution Working Group meeting in March 2020
28. In her complaint, Ms Hierons refers to a meeting of the Constitution Working Group in March
2020 and an attempt by Cllr Malloy, at that meeting, to amend the member-officer protocol
insofar as it relates to complaints against the clerk. I accept Ms Hierons’ point that this
proposal was probably motivated by the failure of Cllr Malloy’s first complaint against her.
29. Nonetheless, I agree with the Governance Solicitor that, whatever Cllr Molloy’s motives for
proposing the change, it was not obviously inappropriate to do so. There does appear to be
a genuine error in paragraph 2.9 of the member-officer protocol, which suggests that
complaints about the clerk which cannot be resolved locally should be referred to the DCC
Monitoring Officer.

However, the Monitoring Officer has no jurisdiction to deal with a

complaint about an officer. I also note that Cllr Molloy made his proposal by way of a motion
and that, even though it was not subsequently ratified, it was passed by his colleagues at the
meeting.
Facebook post on 4 December 2020
30. The Facebook post which is the subject of Ms Hierons’ complaint (and also part of the town
councillors’ complaint) was made during a discussion which was prompted by an earlier post
published by Cllr Molloy late on 3 December 2020. The earlier post is the subject of Mr

Page 150

6

Ranson’s complaint. In this section, I will deal with the later post (published on 4 December
2020) that is relevant to Ms Hierons.
31. The post in question was actually a comment, in which Cllr Molloy sought to defend himself
from an accusation that he had bullied Mr Ranson. It read as follows:
“If you want to talk about bullying De [Hickson], look how your [Cllr] Dean [Ranyard]
conspired with the Town Clerk to falsely accuse me of bullying and DCC upheld that I
hadn’t bullied the Town Clerk!”

32. Included with the comment was a photo of a printed email dated 16 July 2019 sent by Cllr
Ranyard to Ms Hierons in which Cllr Ranyard appears to have attached a screenshot of one
of Cllr Molloy’s Facebook posts which was the subject of COM263.
33. This was clearly inappropriate behaviour.

Firstly, Cllr Molloy’s characterisation of the

decision in COM263 was selective and misleading. As I noted above, while the Governance
Solicitor did not uphold the allegation of bullying, she did find that Cllr Molloy had behaved
disrespectfully and that such behaviour, if repeated in future, could constitute bullying.
Secondly, although not expressly marked “confidential”, the email was private (Cllr Molloy
was not a recipient) and should not have been published. Thirdly, the email is plainly not
evidence of a “conspiracy”.2 All it shows is Cllr Ranyard drawing Ms Hierons’ attention to a
public post on Facebook which, as the Governance Solicitor was later to find, made serious
and disrespectful comments about her. I cannot see anything sinister in that.
34. After Ms Hierons complained to Cllr Geldard about the post, on or around 9 December 2020,
Cllr Molloy did delete it (on Cllr Geldard’s request) and posted the following apology:
“I have deleted my comment.

The reason for this is because there has been a

complaint made against me and one of the words I used in the post, which was
‘conspired’ may not have been the correct word to use, so I apologise for that.”

35. In my opinion, this was an inadequate apology: Cllr Molloy did not withdraw the allegation
which he had made and nor did he apologise for having made the allegation in the first place.
Cllr Molloy’s free speech rights

2

A word which, as Cllr Molloy himself has acknowledged, primarily means an agreement to do
something wrong or illegal.

Page
7 151

36. It is important to acknowledge that Cllr Molloy has the right of freedom of expression, which
is protected under Article 10 of the European Convention on Human Rights.

This right

includes the freedom to hold and express opinions, and thus protects the right to criticise,
speculate and make value judgments. Expressions on political issues or other matters of
general interest attract enhanced protection, meaning that there are relatively few limits
which can be lawfully imposed on “political speech”. As a result, even expressions which
offend, shock or disturb are protected.
37. Any finding that Cllr Molloy’s statements – including his formal complaints against Ms
Hierons and his Facebook post on 4 December 2020 – constitute a breach of the Code will
amount to an interference with his right of freedom of expression. However, the right of
freedom of expression is not absolute; it may lawfully be restricted where there is a
justification for doing so.
38. The law recognises the “protection of the reputation or rights of others” as a justification for
restricting speech.

While elected politicians are expected to have thicker skins, public

servants (i.e. Council officers) are not expected to have such a high degree of tolerance for
criticism. That is not to say that officers can never be criticised: they are in public service
and so can and should be held to account for their actions. Nonetheless, it is in the public
interest that officers should be protected from unjustified criticism which undermines both
their ability to perform their public duties and public confidence in the Council.
Cllr Molloy’s defence of “victimisation”
39. In his response to the complaints, and in his interview with me, Cllr Molloy maintained that he
has been victimised by Ms Hierons.

I do not accept this.

“Victimise” is a strong word

(meaning to treat someone in an intentionally unfair way, especially because of some
personal characteristic) and I do not find this allegation to be made out on the evidence I
have seen.
40. The evidence on which Cllr Molloy relies to support his allegation merely shows Ms Hierons
fulfilling her responsibilities and exercising her professional judgment as clerk. The fact that
she and Cllr Molloy have disagreed on various matters – and, generally, do not enjoy a good
working relationship – falls well short of “victimisation”. Ms Hierons is an experienced clerk
with a long record in public service and it appears to me that she has conducted herself
professionally throughout her dealings with Cllr Molloy.

Page 152

8

41. This point can be illustrated by a recent example cited by Cllr Molloy. In June 2021, Ms
Hierons prepared a report for that month’s meeting of Council.

Her report included a

recommendation that the Council should exclude from membership of the Human Resources
committee any member “who [has] had any complaints made against them by staff upheld”
and that all members of the committee should undertake training. This recommendation was
supported by Cllr Lindsey Johnson, who presented a motion to the meeting in largely the
same terms.
42. Cllr Molloy pointed out that this proposal targets just two members of the Council, including
himself.

He is clearly right about that: only two members have been the subject of

complaints by officers. However, the proposal is quite obviously a reasonable one: members
who have been found (following a formal process) to have behaved inappropriately towards
employees should not be allowed to participate in potentially sensitive discussions and
decisions about the employment of those individuals. Such an arrangement would not be
permitted in any other workplace and it is part of Ms Hierons’ role as clerk to protect the
welfare of Council staff.
43. Moreover, Ms Hierons made this proposal openly and using the correct procedure: a
recommendation to a public meeting at which councillors could debate and make a final
decision for themselves. Cllr Molloy’s belief that this kind of conduct amounts to victimisation
is misconceived.
Conclusions on Cllr Molloy’s behaviour towards Ms Hierons
44. In this part of the report, I have focussed on three statements made by Cllr Molloy about Ms
Hierons: his two complaints and the Facebook post dated 4 December 2020. I consider that
in each of those statements, Cllr Molloy has made unfair and unfounded criticisms of her.
45. However, I also consider that each of those statements constitutes political speech – Cllr
Molloy’s criticisms are of Ms Hierons acting in her professional capacity – and therefore
attract enhanced protection under the law. Therefore there needs to be clear justification for
any finding that these statements constitute a breach of the Code.
46. In respect of Cllr Molloy’s formal complaints against Ms Hierons, I conclude that a finding that
they breached the Code would constitute an unlawful interference with Cllr Molloy’s right of
freedom of expression.

In other words, the submission of these complaints –

notwithstanding that they were unfair and unfounded – does not amount to a breach of the
Code.

I place particular weight on the facts that Cllr Molloy followed the appropriate

Page
9 153

procedure for raising complaints against the clerk (rather than making a public attack on her,
as he did in COM263) and that Ms Hierons is the most senior officer of the Council and must
therefore expect scrutiny of her role. It is in the public interest that councillors should not be
deterred from holding senior officers accountable for their official actions, provided the
appropriate channels are used. On balance, in this instance, I consider that Cllr Molloy’s
enhanced right of freedom of expression outweighs the right of Ms Hierons to be protected
from unjustified criticism.
47. However, I take a different view of Cllr Molloy’s Facebook post dated 4 December 2020. As I
observed in paragraph 33 above, this was an inappropriate post and I consider that it went
beyond acceptable criticism of a senior officer of the Council:
(a) the allegation that Ms Hierons had falsely accused Cllr Molloy of bullying was untrue.
The complaint was upheld in that the behaviour which was the subject of COM263 was
found to be disrespectful and capable of constituting bullying if repeated. Therefore to
characterise it as a false allegation was selective and misleading;
(b) the allegation that she had conspired with another councillor was also untrue and
certainly not supported by the email from Cllr Ranyard which is the only evidence Cllr
Molloy has claimed as proof;
(c) the allegations were made in a highly public forum which did not allow Ms Hierons any
right of reply (compared with the formal procedure for raising complaints against the
clerk);
(d) making serious but unfounded allegations in such a public way unfairly undermined Ms
Hierons’ position as clerk and caused her genuine distress.

Moreover, given the

centrality of the clerk to the administration of the Council, it also undermined public
confidence in the Council itself.
48. Therefore I find that Cllr Molloy’s Facebook post dated 4 December 2020 breached
paragraph 3.1 (failure to behave in such a way that a reasonable person would regard
as respectful and bringing the Council into disrepute) of the Code.
49. I note that the complaint is not limited to a failure to show respect and that Cllr Molloy is also
accused of bullying. In this regard, I consider that his Facebook post on 4 December 2020
bears a striking similarity to the conduct which resulted in the finding that he had
disrespected Ms Hierons in COM263.

Page 154

The repetition of essentially the same behaviour

10

suggests that he has ignored the warning of the Governance Solicitor that this could
constitute bullying. As the Governance Solicitor noted, bullying behaviour generally consists
of a course of conduct (i.e. a pattern of behaviour). Given their obvious similarity, I consider
that these two incidents do constitute a pattern of behaviour, notwithstanding that there was
a period of 18 months between them.
50. In his response to my draft report, Cllr Molloy denied that he intended to undermine Ms
Hierson by publishing this post and that, with hindsight, “[he understood] that it was probably
a reckless approach to take ... and for that I apologise to Ms Hierons.” After I asked for
further clarification, he explained that he was
“just focusing on trying to defend myself ... in the only way I knew how to and I just
didn’t think at that moment when I replied, what the [effect] of my post and [its]
contents would be on ... Ms Hierons ... and it is that behaviour that I am apologising
for.”

51. I am not convinced by this response. Firstly, in my interview with him, notwithstanding that
he deleted the comment, and apologised for it, Cllr Molloy was adamant that he stood by his
comments and that they represented the truth.

Secondly, he had already been warned

against making further unfair comments about Ms Hierons on Facebook and therefore would
have known to choose his words with care. Thirdly, accusing someone else of being a bully
was no answer to the accusation that Cllr Molloy was being a bully. As an elected politician,
he is expected to have a thicker skin. These factors lead me to conclude that Cllr Molloy
intentionally set out to undermine Ms Hierons. Again, as the Governance Solicitor noted,
bullying behaviour requires that the bully has the intention of undermining the victim.
52. Ms Hierons explained to me that she has suffered distress as a result of Cllr Molloy’s
behaviour. It was clear to me from our interview that this was genuinely felt. A negative
effect on the victim, such as distress, is the final element required for a finding of bullying.
53. Accordingly, I find that Cllr Molloy has also breached paragraph 3.2 (acting in a way
which a reasonable person would regard as bullying) of the Code.
Cllr Molloy’s behaviour towards Mr Ranson
Allegation

Page
11 155

54. Mr Ranson is the Council’s Facilities Manager. He has been in that position for almost nine
years and, along with Ms Hierons (the clerk) and the finance manager (currently vacant),
makes up the senior management team of the Council.
55. As I summarised in paragraph 2(b) above, the allegation in Mr Ranson’s complaint (and in
part of the councillors’ complaint) is that Cllr Molloy made inappropriate comments about him
at a meeting of the Council and subsequently on Facebook.
Virtual budget workshop on 19 November 2020
56. Each year the Council must prepare a budget. An important part of the preparations for the
budget is a workshop to which all councillors are invited to comment on a draft prepared by
officers and to make their own proposals.

Cllr Molloy was one of the councillors who

attended a virtual budget workshop over Zoom on 19 November 2020. Mr Ranson also
attended that meeting.
57. During the discussion at that workshop, without warning, Cllr Molloy brought up staffing costs
and made the suggestion that the Council should consider getting rid of the post of Facilities
Manager. Given that the budget was balanced and that no savings needed to be found,
there was no obvious for reason for making such a suggestion. Mr Ranson told me that
other councillors laughed in response and that he felt completely embarrassed.
58. This was clearly an inappropriate comment to make. As any employer will know, a formal
process is required (including organisational review and redundancy) before an employee’s
post can be deleted. This comment was made completely out of the blue. Moreover, it was
unfair to single out a single employee in this way. If Cllr Molloy had a genuine concern about
the cost of staff salaries, he could have proposed a general review without picking on one
individual’s position.
59. I discussed this incident with Cllr Geldard, who chaired the workshop. He he warned Cllr
Molloy that his comment was out of order and told him that it was inappropriate to single out
an individual officer with no justification. Cllr Geldar’s account is consistent with what Mr
Ranson told me about this incident.
Facebook post on 3 December 2020
60. On 1 December 2020, Cllr Molloy attended a meeting of the Policy and Resources
Committee. The Committee was presented with a final budget for approval. Given that

Page 156

12

councillors had already been involved in the preparation of the budget, there was no
substantive debate on this item and it was duly approved by members, including Cllr Molloy.
61. Late on 3 December 2020, Cllr Molloy published a post on his Facebook page about that
decision. The post included the following statement:
“Even though it is always good to have 0% increase on the Council Tax I am a great
believer that the Council should still try to find savings for the tax payer to try and
maintain a 0% increase for future years.
Of a £1,360,181 precept, £743,732 or 55% of that precept is staffing costs i.e. salary,
National Insurance and Pension, so this may be an area to look at to review if the
town council could operate without certain high paid positions e.g. Facilities Manager,
to save the most money for the tax payer.”

62. This was clearly inappropriate. I find it astonishing that Cllr Molloy would again single out Mr
Ranson in this way, having already been told that he was wrong to do so – and to do so in
such a public way.
63. As an example of how exposing and humiliating this was for Mr Ranson, Cllr Molloy’s post
prompted at least one reply attacking Mr Ranson from a Steven Robinson:
“Pete Molloy about 18 months ago a serving councillor, who had also been the Mayor
th

said that the Facilities Manager was due to retire on the 5 December (2019), we are
a year on and he is still getting paid, for what?”

64. Mr Ranson learned about the Facebook post from a friend who called him and asked why he
was being sacked and what he had done to be sacked. Mr Ranson was surprised; he was
told to read Facebook because “one of your employers is saying to get rid of you”.
65. Mr Ranson told me that he was bombarded with calls and visits to his home from family and
friends who had seen the post and were concerned about him and asking what had
happened at work. He told me he was devastated. He told me (and I have no reason to
doubt this) that he puts “everything into the job” and that he does not take his full entitlement
to holiday or time off in lieu. It is worth noting that Mr Ranson has continued to work for the
Council despite having been assaulted on the job by a serving councillor (for which the
councillor was prosecuted, tried, convicted and unsuccessfully appealed), which gives some
indication of his level of commitment to his work.

Page
13 157

Mr Ranson’s behaviour towards Cllr Molloy
66. In his response to the complaint, and in his response to my draft report, Cllr Molloy
suggested that Mr Ranson had disrespected him and behaved aggressively, which means
that “he can be seen as a person not to be easily intimidated or bullied.”
67. I do not accept this. The only evidence Cllr Molloy could point to in support of this allegation
is a short exchange of messages between him and Mr Ranson, in which Mr Ranson appears
to have complained about another Facebook post published by Cllr Molloy. Mr Ranson’s
message does not have a greeting which may not be polite but I do not construe it to be
aggressive.

I note also that Cllr Molloy appears to have accepted that his post was

inappropriate and apologised for it, which suggests that Mr Ranson’s message was justified.
In any case, it is Cllr Molloy who is subject to the Code – not Mr Ranson – and even if Cllr
Molloy’s accusation was well-founded, it could not justify the two statements which are the
subject of this complaint.
Conclusion on Cllr Molloy’s behaviour towards Mr Ranson
68. The circumstances of any individual’s employment are both private and sensitive and, in
particular, termination of an individual’s employment should never be discussed in such a
casual and public way. As I have set out above, it was inappropriate for Cllr Molloy to raise
this issue by repeatedly singling out Mr Ranson’s post when there was no pressing need to
make savings from the budget, especially doing so on Facebook.
69. Again, I must take into account Cllr Molloy’s right of freedom of expression. In particular, I
note that saving money and reducing the burden on the public purse are, in principle,
legitimate concerns for an elected politician to pursue.

Therefore I accept that these

statements attract enhanced protection as political speech.
70. In Heesom v Public Service Ombudsman for Wales3, the High Court considered a similar
case. It was held that councillors are in a “quasi-employer” status towards employees of the
authority and that publicly threatening that an employee might lose their job, without
reference to other councillors or to the proper employment procedures, constituted a breach
of the code of conduct.

Not only did it harm the interests of the employee but it also

undermined the relationship of mutual trust and confidence between the authority and its
officers, which harmed the public interest in good administration.

3

[2014] EWHC 1504 (Admin)

Page 158

14

71. I consider that this is also true in this case. As I noted above, if he was genuinely concerned
to save public money, Cllr Molloy could have proposed a staff review in the appropriate
forum without targeting an individual role as being at risk.

Cllr Molloy did not use the

appropriate route for pursuing this concern and, as a result, undermined both Mr Ranson
personally and the Council as a whole by damaging the mutual trust and confidence between
the Council and its employees.
72. In his response to my draft report, Cllr Molloy sought to justify his comments with reference
to the Nolan principles of “openness” and “honesty”, in that “I was being open and honest in
how money could be saved from the staffing budget, irrespective if there was a need to or
not.” I do not accept this as justification for the comments. Those principles need to be
interpreted in a reasonable way and do not give councillors licence to say whatever they
want in any context. Furthermore these general principles of public life need to be read
alongside the specific obligations in the Code, which include a duty to behave with respect to
others and not to behave in a bullying way.
73. Accordingly, I find that Cllr Molloy’s statements breached paragraph 3.1 (failure to
behave in such a way that a reasonable person would regard as respectful and
bringing the Council into disrepute) of the Code.
74. I am particularly troubled by the fact that, having been warned once that it was inappropriate
to suggest the removal of Mr Ranson’s post, he deliberately did so again and this time on
Facebook. This has unfortunate echoes of his Facebook activity in relation to Ms Hierons.
The repetition of the statement amounts to a pattern of behaviour. The fact that there was no
obvious financial justification for the statement in the first place, and that he repeated the
statement despite the warning, indicates that Cllr Molloy did so intentionally to undermine Mr
Ranson. It is not surprising that Mr Ranson felt humiliated by this behaviour.
75. In his response to my draft report, Cllr Molloy denied intentionally setting out to humiliate Mr
Ranson and stated that “I do understand that my actions in putting the post up can be
construed [as] being reckless and for that I apologise to Mr Ranson.” I do not accept this
denial: it is difficult to see how repeatedly singling out an individual employee in this way
could be anything other than intentional.
76. Therefore I find that these two statements breached paragraph 3.2 (acting in a way
which a reasonable person would regard as bullying) of the Code.
Conclusion

Page
15 159

77. For these reasons, I uphold all three complaints. In summary, I find that:
(a) Cllr Molloy’s statement about Ms Hierons, published on Facebook on 4 December 2020,
amounts to a failure to treat her with respect and brings the Council into disrepute;
(b) when seen in the light of earlier similar statements also published on Facebook, the latest
statement also amounts to bullying of Ms Hierons; and
(c) Cllr Molloy’s repeated suggestion of getting rid of Mr Ranson’s job amounts to a failure to
treat him with respect, brings the Council into disrepute and also constitutes bullying.
Matt Lewin
Cornerstone Barristers
5 August 2021
Appendices
1. Spennymoor Town Council Members’ Code of Conduct
2. COM322:
(a) complaint submitted by Colin Ranson
(b) response from Cllr Molloy
3. COM323:
(a) complaint submitted by Spennymoor Town Councillors
(b) response from Cllr Molloy
4. COM324:
(a) complaint submitted by Katherine Hierons
(b) response from Cllr Molloy
5. COM322, 323, 324: Governance Solicitor’s decision notice (13 May 2021)
6. Cllr Molloy’s response to draft report (30 July 2021)
7. COM263: Governance Solicitor’s decision notice (27 Feb 2020)

Page 160

16

Appendix 1

SPENNYMOOR TOWN COUNCIL

MEMBERS’ CODE OF CONDUCT
Author of Policy:

Town Clerk

Date Effective From:

25 September 2019

Policy Review:
When & By Whom
Next Review:

28 August 2019 Constitution Working Group
August 2021

In accordance with the Freedom of Information Act 2000, this document will be
posted on the Council’s Website www.spennymoor-tc.gov.uk and copies of this
document will be available for inspection on deposit in the Council Offices, Town
Hall, Spennymoor. Costs are as per the model publication scheme.

17

Page 161

1. Introduction
Pursuant to section 27 of the Localism Act 2011, SPENNYMOOR TOWN
COUNCIL (‘the Council’) has adopted this Code of Conduct to promote and
maintain high standards of behaviour by its Members and co-opted Members
whenever they conduct the business of the Council, including the business of
the office to which they were elected or appointed, or when they claim to act
or give the impression of acting as a representative of the Council.
This Code of Conduct is based on the principles of selflessness, integrity,
objectivity, accountability, openness, honesty, and leadership.

2. Definitions
For the purposes of this Code, a ‘co-opted Member’ is a person who is not a
Member of the Council but who is either a Member of any committee or subcommittee of the Council, or a Member of, and represents the Council on any
joint committee or joint sub-committee of the Council, and who is entitled to
vote on any question that falls to be decided at any meeting of that committee
or sub-committee.
For the purposes of this Code, a ‘meeting’ is a meeting of the Council, any of
its committees, sub-committees, joint committees or joint sub-committees.
For the purposes of this Code, and unless otherwise expressed, a reference
to a Member of the Council includes a co-opted Member of the Council.

3. Member obligations
When a member of the Council acts, claims to act or gives the impression of
acting as a representative of the Council, he/she has the following obligations:
1. he/she shall behave in such a way that a reasonable person would
regard as respectful at all times, and not bring the Town Council or their
office into disrepute;
2. he/she shall not act in a way which a reasonable person would regard
as bullying or intimidatory;
3. he/she shall not seek to improperly confer an advantage or
disadvantage on any person;

Page 162

18

4. he/she shall use the resources of the Council in accordance with its
requirements;
5. he/she shall not share, discuss or disclose information to others which is
confidential or where disclosure is prohibited by law;
6. he/she must comply with any Standing Orders, policies and procedures
adopted by the Council which seek to regulate the conduct of its elected
Members;
7. he/she must act in accordance with the Council’s reasonable
requirements when using or authorising the use by others of the
resources of the Council (as set out in such protocol as it may adopt from
time to time for these purposes) and must ensure they are not used for
party political purposes;
8. he/she must not prevent, or attempt to prevent, another person from
gaining access to information to which they are entitled by law; and,
9. he/she must not seek to circumvent these obligations by posting or
otherwise publishing on social media or elsewhere, anonymously or
under a pseudonym, information or opinion which would otherwise
breach this code.

4. Registration of interests
Within 28 days of this Code being adopted by the Council, or a Member’s
election or a co-opted Member’s appointment (where that is later), he/she shall
register with the Monitoring Officer at Durham County Council, through the Town
Clerk, the interests which fall within the categories set out in Appendices A and
B.
Upon the re-election of a Member or the re-appointment of a co-opted
Member, he/she shall within 28 days re-register with the Monitoring Officer at
Durham County Council, through the Town Clerk, any interests in Appendices
A and B.
A Member shall register with the Monitoring Officer at Durham County Council,
through the Town Clerk any change to interests or new interests in Appendices
A and B within 28 days of becoming aware of it.

19

Page 163

A Member need only declare the existence but not the details of any interest
which the Monitoring Officer agrees is a ‘sensitive interest’. A sensitive interest
is one which, if disclosed on a public register, could lead the Member or a
person connected with the Member to be subject to violence or intimidation.

5. Declaration of interests at meetings
Where a matter arises at a meeting which relates to an interest in Appendix A
the Member shall not participate in a discussion or vote on the matter. He/she
only has to declare what his/her interest is if it is not already entered in the
Member’s register of interests or if he/she has not notified the Monitoring
Officer at Durham County Council of it, through the Town Clerk.
Where a matter arises at a meeting which relates to an interest in Appendix A
which is a sensitive interest, the Member shall not participate in a discussion
or vote on the matter. If it is a sensitive interest which has not already been
disclosed to the Monitoring Officer at Durham County Council, through the
Town Clerk, the Member shall disclose he/she has an interest but not the
nature of it.
Where a matter arises at a meeting which relates to an interest in Appendix B,
the Member shall not vote on the matter. He/she may speak on the matter
only if Members of the public are also allowed to speak at the meeting.
A Member only has to declare his/her interest in Appendix B if it is not already
entered in his/her register of interests or he/she has not notified the Monitoring
Officer at Durham County Council of it, through the Town Clerk, or if he/she
speaks on the matter. If he/she holds an interest in Appendix B which is a
sensitive interest not already disclosed to the Monitoring Officer at Durham
County Council, through the Town Clerk, he/she shall declare the interest but
not the nature of the interest.
Where a matter arises at a meeting which relates to a financial interest of a
friend, relative or close associate (other than an interest of a person in
Appendix A), the Member shall disclose the nature of the interest and not vote
on the matter. He/she may speak on the matter only if members of the public
are also allowed to speak at the meeting. If it is a ‘sensitive interest’ the
Member shall declare the interest but not the nature of the interest.

Page 164

20

6. Dispensations
On a written request made to the Council’s Proper Officer, the Council may
grant a Member a dispensation to participate in a discussion and vote on a
matter at a meeting even if he/she has an interest in Appendices A and B, if
the Council believes that the number of Members otherwise prohibited from
taking part in the meeting would impede the transaction of the business, or it
is in the interests of the inhabitants in the Council’s area to allow the Member
to take part or it is otherwise appropriate to grant a dispensation.

21

Page 165

Appendix A
Interests described in the table below.
Subject

Description

Employment,
office, trade,
profession or
vocation

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on
for profit or gain by the Member or by his/her spouse or civil
partner or by the person with whom the member is living as if
they were spouses/civil partners.

Sponsorship

Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other
than from the Council) made or provided within the previous 12
months in respect of any expenses incurred in carrying out
duties as a Member or towards election expenses. This
includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade union
within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour Relations
(Consolidation) Act 1992.

Contracts

Any contract made between the Member or his/her spouse or
civil partner or the person with whom the Member is living as if
they were spouses/civil partners (or a firm in which such person
is a partner, or an incorporated body of which such person is a
director* or a body that such person has a beneficial interest in
the securities of*) and the Council —
(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works
are to be executed; and
(b) which has not been fully discharged.

Land

Any beneficial interest in land held by the Member or by his/her
spouse or civil partner or by the person with whom the Member
is living as if they were spouses/civil partner which is within the
area of the Council.
‘Land’ excludes an easement, servitude, interest or right in or
over land which does not give the member or his/her spouse or
civil partner or the person with whom the Member is living as if
they were spouses/civil partners (alone or jointly with another) a
right to occupy or to receive income.

Licences

Any licence (alone or jointly with others) held by the Member or
by his/her spouse or civil partner or by the person with whom
the Member is living as if they were spouses/civil partners to
occupy land in the area of the Council for a month or longer.

Corporate
tenancies

Any tenancy where (to the Member’s knowledge)—
(a) the landlord is the Council; and
(b) the tenant is a body that the Member, or his/her spouse or

Page 166

22

civil partner or the person with whom the Member is living as if
they were spouses/civil partners is a partner of or a director* of
or has a beneficial interest in the securities** of.
Securities

Any beneficial interest held by the Member or by his/her
spouse or civil partner or by the person with whom the Member
is living as if they were spouses/civil partners in securities* of a
body where
(a) that body (to the Member’s knowledge) has a place of
business or land in the area of the Council; and
(b) either—
(i) the total nominal value of the securities** exceeds £25,000 or
one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the
total nominal value of the shares of any one class in which the
Member, or his/her spouse or civil partner or the person with
whom the Member is living as if they were spouses/civil
partners has a beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the
total issued share capital of that class.

*’director’ includes a member of the committee of management of an industrial and
provident society.
**’securities’ means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of
a collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services and
Markets Act 2000 and other securities of any description, other than money
deposited with a building society.

23

Page 167

Appendix B
An interest which relates to or is likely to affect:

Page 168

(i)

any body of which the Member is in a position of general control or
management and to which he/she is appointed or nominated by the
Council;

(ii)

any body—
(a) exercising functions of a public nature;
(b) directed to charitable purposes; or
(c) one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public
opinion or policy (including any political party or trade union)
of which the Member of the Council is a member or in a position of
general control or management;

(iii)

any gifts or hospitality worth more than an estimated value of £50 which
the Member has received by virtue of his or her office.

24

Appendix 2(a)
COM322

Page 169

25

Page 170

26

27

Page 171

Page 172

28

Appendix 2(b)
COM322

Re: COM 322 – Colin Ranson
At the towns council’s Budget Workshop held remotely on Thursday, 19 November, 2020, I mentioned
how a large proportion of the budget is spent on staffing costs and that the council may need to
review staffing with the possibility of phasing out the position of Facilities Manager.
When I mention this, Mr Colin Ranson, who currently holds that position, started giggling and shaking
his head has if to say, “That will never happen.”
At no point did Mr Ranson show himself to be in shock or embarrassment nor did he speak, which he
was entitled to do, to express any disgust
The Chairman of the meeting did make a comment on how he thought with presenting a 0% budget
that he didn’t believe there was no need to hold a staffing review. I cannot recall the Chairman of the
meeting mentioning anything about ‘targeting and embarrassing’ an individual.
I did not put forward a formal motion proposal on this issue, so no vote was taken to make a decision
on whether there should be a staff review or not.
I put a post on my Councillor facebook page on 3, December, 2020, with regards to 0% increase in
Council Tax for 2021/22 and also mention the amount of the precept is spent on staffing costs, which I
believe is high for the Town Council and looking at how it may be an area to look at to cut costs and
gave an example of a possible area and position where money for the tax payer could be saved.
A responsible Councillor should be looking at ways to save money for the tax payer and that is all I
was trying to do with mentioning it at the budget workshop and communicating it with the electorate
via my Councillor facebook page, especially with the position of Grounds and Estates Officer being
given more responsibilities on the facilities side of authority. An example of this is the Facilities
Assistances no longer report to the Facilities Manager as their line manager, but report now to the
Grounds and Estates Officer, which wasn’t explained would happen when the report to promote the
Grounds and Estates Officer came before the council in September.
In his statement, Mr Ranson says, “I also believe that should he carry out his threat of removing my
post…” This is complete nonsense, because I have not made any threat to remove his post and he
knows that one single Councillor does not have the ability as an individual to remove any post!
It is interesting that Mr Ranson stipulates Section 2.2 of the Member/Officer Protocol that deals with
mutual respect between Members and Officers and any dealings between them should observe
standards of courtesy, because there have been times when he hasn’t observed them himself.
On the evening of the 2 August, 2019, I was contacted by Mr Ranson on facebook (Appendix 1),
which had no respectful greeting and could be construed as aggressive in tone, concerning a post
that I put up on my Councillors page, which after reading it again, I hadn’t worded it correctly, so I
deleted it and apologised.
I did not receive an apology from Mr Ranson for the aggressive tone in which his message came
across, so this can only mean that he thinks it is acceptable to contact Councillors in this manner and
therefore, he can be seen as a person not to be easily intimidated or bullied.
I refute the claims by Mr Ranson that I have targeted him to bully and intimidate him, because I was
not being personal against him, I did not once mention Mr Ranson by name or that he should lose is
employment with Spennymoor Town Council. All I was genuinely trying to do was to look after the

29

Page 173

public purse by identifying an area of council spending that could be reviewed and identified a
possible position due to a recent promotion of another Officer mentioned above.
The accusation by some Spennymoor Town Council Officers of being bullied by a Member seems to
be their default position when a Member says something, asks certain questions or does something
an Officer doesn’t approve of or agree with, which seems to be quite common in this authority with
other Members previously being accused of bullying Officers and has a result being victimised.
th

On the 4 December, 2020, I received an email (Appendix 2) from the Town Clerk informing me of a
complaint made from a member of staff in relation to my post.
In her email the Town Clerk wrote:
“I look forward to receiving a response within 7 working days after which a referral will be made to the
Monitoring Officer.”
With reading the above sentence, I took it from the Town Clerk that no matter if I had responded to
her email within 7 days that she was still going to make a referral to the Monitoring Officer. This was
the reason why I didn’t respond back and not to be disrespectful.
I was elected to represent the interest of the residents of Spennymoor and do my best for the town,
which I am trying to do by being open and honest and this is why I put the post on that is the subject
of this complaint, up on my Councillor facebook page.
I feel I have been getting victimised by another Officer since being elected and I have used the
internal policy procedures to address this, but it was swept under the carpet with the recommendation
of mediation and now feel that this victimisation is continuing through Mr Ranson’s complaint against
me.
Councillor Pete Molloy

Page 174

30

Appendix
1. Facebook communication.
2. Town Clerk’s email.

31

Page 175

1. Facebook Communication

Page 176

32

2.

Town Clerk’s email.

From: Katherine Hierons <katherine.hierons@spennymoor-tc.gov.uk>
Sent: Friday, December 4, 2020 10:32:07 AM
To: Pete Molloy <pete.molloy@spennymoor-tc.gov.uk>
Subject: Complaint
Dear Cllr Molloy
I have received a complaint from a member of staff following a post you have placed on Facebook re
possibly removing the Facilities Manager post from the Town Council.
You also made this suggestion a couple of weeks ago at a virtual meeting (Budget Workshop) whilst
the member of staff who holds that post was also on the call. It was explained to you then that you
cannot just do this and a full staffing review would have to be undertaken.
I would ask you, therefore, to take down the facebook post and make an apology to the member of
staff on facebook as this is where you have put your post.
The member of staff believes your behaviour, especially after having been advised at the Budget
Workshop, to be disrespectful and intimidatory in contravention of the Member Code of Conduct and
the Member Officer Protcol.
I look forward to receiving a response within 7 working days after which a referral will be made to the
Monitoring Officer.
Kind regards
Katherine

33

Page 177

Appendix 3(a)
COM323

Page 178

34

Page 179

35

Page 180

36

37

Page 181

Page 182

38

Page 183

39

Page 184

40

41

Page 185

Page 186

42

Appendix 3(b)
COM323

RE: COM 323-Town Council
The reason why I published the email (Appendix 1) from Councillor Ranyard and the Town Clerk was
to defend against the comment made by De Hickson (Appendix 2), whom suggested that my original
post (Appendix 3) was bullying of the Facilities Manager and to defend against the one sided claims
made previously by De Hickson on social media, of Councillors bullying Officers.
.
De Hickson is the mother to Councillor Dean Ranyard’s wife or girlfriend and the amateur dramatics
group she belongs to uses Spennymoor Town Council’s town hall to put on its productions, which
could explain why on occasions, she has comes to the defence of Officers on social media when
there has been criticism made of them by members of the public.
On Wednesday, 9 December, 2020, at 10:59, I received an email (Appendix 4) from Councillor Ian
Geldard, whom is the Town Clerk’s line manager, informing me of a complaint made to him from the
Town Clerk about my facebook post publishing the email in question and what I wrote.
In his email, Councillor Geldard wrote:
“The complainant has requested that this complaint is referred to the Standards Committee at DCC.
In line with the above section, I have asked the complainant what local resolution could mitigate
against the complaint.
As a local resolution and due to the comments having been made on Facebook in public, you would
be required to immediately retract your Facebook comments and issue a public apology for the
remarks, on Facebook.
If you are unable or unwilling to undertake the above, I will refer the complaint to the DCC
Monitoring Officer/Standards Committee for investigation as per the above process.
Could you please respond to this email no later than Tuesday 15th December advising of your
intentions in relation to this matter.”
In his email Councillor Geldard also wrote:
“The complaint refers to the attached comments from Facebook, alleges that you have accused the
Town Clerk and a Councillor of conspiring against you; and that the defines 'conspiring' as making
secret plans jointly to commit an unlawful or harmful act.”
And:
“In relation to Section 2.4, the complainant believes you have created an impression that the Town
Clerk and Cllr Ranyard may have some type of inappropriate relationship.”
When I viewed my emails during my dinner break on the same day of receiving Councillor Geldard’s
email, I went onto facebook, reviewed what I had written and thought that word ‘conspired’ may

43

Page 187

have been the wrong word to use and deleted my post. I put up and apology (Appendix 5), which I
thought complied with what Councillor Geldard had requested and sent him an email (Appendix 6)
to confirm this.
However, according to www.dictionary.com (Appendix 7) the word ‘conspire’ also means, ‘to act or
work together toward the same result or goal’, which can be construed has what both Councillor
Ranyard and the Town Clerk actually did to try and make me out to be a bully!
I refute the Town Clerk’s claim that I created an impression of some type of inappropriate
relationship between herself and Councillor Ranyard, and that I have acted in a way to bully or
intimidate her or anyone else. Like I have said above, I posted the email and made the comment to
defend myself and other Members that have wrongly been accused of bullying.
I am unsure whether Spennymoor Town Council had the authority to report me for an allegedly data
breach, has stipulated in Section 1.2 of agenda item 19 (Appendix 8) of the town council’s Ordinary
Meeting held on Tuesday, 22 December, 2020.
The reasons are that no email addresses were shown, the copy of the email was in relation to a
previous and concluded complaint to the Monitoring Officer, the apology in connection to that case
is in the public domain, there was no ‘Private & Confidential’ marked on the papers and I did not
obtain the copy of the email from Spennymoor Town Council.
I would like to take this opportunity to contest the inclusion from the Town Clerk on behalf of
Spennymoor Town Council on the subjects of comments made by myself about the post of Facilities
Manager and that on a previous occasion that I had published an email on social media from a
Council Officer in this complaint.
The reason for my objection is that these two subjects being included in this complaint are that they
were not included in agenda item 19(Appendix 8) to be discussed, so they were not discussed and
there was no vote taken by the Members on them, which is confirmed by Councillor Billy McAloon’s
email (Appendix 9), so I don’t see how the Town Clerk has the authority to include them in this
complaint on behalf of the town council. I can only see it has being a malicious act by the Town
Clerk, because it has previously been concluded that I did not bully her.
With regards to the complaint about comments made about the post of Facilities Manager, that is a
separate complaint from the Town Council one and with regards to the allegation that I have
previously published an email on social media, I have not and if I had, I’m sure the Town Clerk would
have had a screenshot of it and produced it as evidence!
Councillor Pete Molloy

Page 188

44

Appendix
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.

Email post.
De Hickson’s comment.
Councillor Pete Molloy’s original post.
Councillor Ian Geldard’s email.
Councillor Pete Molloy’s apology post.
Councillor Pete Molloy’s email response to Councillor Geldard.
Dictionary.com definition.
Agenda item 19.

45

Page 189

1.

Page 190

Email post.

46

2.

De Hickson’s comment.

47

Page 191

3.

Page 192

Pete Molloy’s original post.

48

4. Councillor Ian Geldard’s email.
Ian Geldard ian.geldard@spennymoor-tc.gov.uk via spennymoortc.onmicrosoft.com
Attachments
9 Dec 2020, 10:59
to me, Pete
Good Morning Cllr Molloy,
As Lead Member for Council Policy and Infrastructure, and the member with Line Management
responsibilities for the Town Clerk, I have received a complaint from the Clerk that you have acted
outside of the Member/Officer Protocol in recent Facebook comments.
Background of the Complaint
The complaint refers to the attached comments from Facebook, alleges that you have accused the
Town Clerk and a Councillor of conspiring against you; and that the defines 'conspiring' as making
secret plans jointly to commit an unlawful or harmful act.
In particular the complainant alleges that you have breached sections 3.1 and 3.2 of the Member
Code of Conduct:
1. he/she shall behave in such a way that a reasonable person would regard as respectful at all
times, and not bring the Town Council or their office into disrepute;
2.
he/she shall not act in a way which a reasonable person would regard as bullying or
intimidatory;
The complainant believes you have been disrespectful by making an allegation against her on social
media/in public, and that your behaviour is intimidatory.
Furthermore, the complainant alleges that you have breached sections 2.2-2.4 of the
Member/Officer protocol:
2.2
At the heart of the Codes and this Protocol, is the importance of mutual respect.
Member/Officer relationships are to be conducted in a positive and constructive way. Therefore, it is
important that any dealings between Members and Officers should observe standards of courtesy
and that neither party should seek to take unfair advantage of their position or seek to exert undue
influence on the other party.
2.3
Members must respect the impartiality and integrity of all the Council's Officers. Similarly, all
Officers must respect the role of Members as elected representatives and the roles of other Officers
at all times.

49

Page 193

2.4
Inappropriate relationships can be inferred from language/style. To protect both Members
and Officers, Officers should address Members at all formal meetings as Councillor XXX and Mr or
Madam Chairman save where circumstances clearly indicate that a level of informality is
appropriate, e.g. a one to one meeting. Similarly when addressing Officers at formal meetings of the
Council, Members should address Officers by their post title.
In relation to Section 2.4, the complainant believes you have created an impression that the Town
Clerk and Cllr Ranyard may have some type of inappropriate relationship.
Handling the Complaint
In terms of handling this complaint, as Lead Member for Council Policy and Infrastructure, I must
take action in line with section 2.9 such:
Where the matter relates to the Town Clerk, the Lead Member for HR/the Town Clerk's Line
Manager will seek to resolve the matter at a local level and if this cannot be achieved then will make
a referral to the Monitoring Officer at Durham County Council in the context of the Standards
Committee considering the complaint.
The complainant has requested that this complaint is referred to the Standards Committee at DCC.
In line with the above section, I have asked the complainant what local resolution could mitigate
against the complaint.
As a local resolution and due to the comments having been made on Facebook in public, you would
be required to immediately retract your Facebook comments and issue a public apology for the
remarks, on Facebook.
If you are unable or unwilling to undertake the above, I will refer the complaint to the DCC
Monitoring Officer/Standards Committee for investigation as per the above process.
Could you please respond to this email no later than Tuesday 15th December advising of your
intentions in relation to this matter.
Many thanks,
Councillor Ian Geldard.
________________________________
Councillor Ian Geldard BSc Hons (Dunelm) CertHE CiLCA AMBCS
Lead Member for Council Policy & Infrastructure
Tel: 01388 815276
Mob: 07956817168
ian.geldard@spennymoor-tc.gov.uk<mailto:igeldard@spennymoortowncouncil.gov.uk>

Page 194

50

5. Councillor Pete Molloy’s apology post.

51

Page 195

6.

Councillor Pete Molloy’s email response to Councillor Geldard.

Peter Molloy <molloy418@googlemail.com>
Attachments
9 Dec 2020, 12:31
to Ian
Hi Ian,
Deleted the comment and left an apology.
Regards,
Pete

Page 196

52

7. Dictionary.com definition.

53

Page 197

8. Agenda item 19.

Page 198

54

55

Page 199

Page 200

56

Page 201

57

Page 202

58

Page 203

59

Page 204

60

61

Page 205

Page 206

62

63

Page 207

Page 208

64

9. Councillor Billy McAloon’s email

65

Page 209

Page 210

66

Appendix 4(a)
COM324

67

Page 211

Page 212

68

69

Page 213

Page 214

70

71

Page 215

Page 216

72

73

Page 217

Page 218

74

75

Page 219

Page 220

76

77

Page 221

Page 222

78

79

Page 223

Page 224

80

81

Page 225

Page 226

82

83

Page 227

Page 228

84

85

Page 229

Page 230

86

Page 231

87

Page 232

88

89

Page 233

Page 234

90

91

Page 235

Page 236

92

93

Page 237

Page 238

94

95

Page 239

Page 240

96

97

Page 241

Page 242

98

99

Page 243

Page 244

100

101

Page 245

Page 246

102

103

Page 247

Appendix 4(b)
COM324

Re: COM 324 Town Clerk – response
Since I was elected onto Spennymoor Town Council in May 2019, I feel that the Town Clerk has been
targeting me to tarnish my character and to the point of victimising me, which I believe stems from a
l letter of complaint (Appendix 1) I sent to her dated 22 November, 2018, on behalf of veterans
associations in the town in relation to laying poppy wreaths on Remembrance Sunday.
The Town Clerk claims that I am participating in a course of conduct towards her that amounts to
bullying, harassment and intimidation since the decision notice from a previous complaint (COM263)
had found that I had not bullied her.
This is of course not true and since she took her initial complaint against me, I have purposely had as
little contact as possible with her and due to the things she accuses me of doing to her e.g. bullying, I
have had to include the Town Mayor in all email correspondence I have with her to protect myself
from any future accusations.
I shouldn’t have to include a third party in emails to the Town Clerk, but it is the result in the
breakdown of respect, trust and a working relationship!
In the past the Town Clerk has brought up the issue of Constructive Dismissal and has informed
some other Members and myself that a friend of hers was awarded between £200,000.00 and
£300,000.00 in compensation and this has been discussed in the council chamber.
She has claimed she doesn’t want to do this, but I feel her actions in accusing me of bullying,
harassment and intimidation is to build up a case for legal action against the town council for
financial gain. She has threatened to do this in an email (Appendix 2) to myself, three other
Members and another Officer.
The Town Clerk claims that my reporting her to the town Council’s Special Committee constitutes
me harassing her. However, this is the course of action Members are entitled to take if they have a
grievance against the Town Clerk under Section 2.6 of the town council’s Member/Officer Protocol,
which states:
“If the issue is with the Town Clerk, a Member should inform the Lead Member for HR who will
request a meeting of the Special Committee is held to consider the matter.”
I have reported the Town Clerk to the Special Committee on two separate occasions for
victimisation, not being politically neutral by trying to influence the political decision making and not
allowing the town’s ceremonial union flag to be part of the Remembrance Sunday parade.
My first report to the Special Committee dealt with the Town Clerk victimising me, which had been
noticed by some other Members and they informed me that I was being targeted, was sent to
Councillor Ian Geldard in October 2019 (Appendix 3) and I provided evidence to substantiate my
case.

Page 248

104

The outcome of that Special Committee was the recommendation of mediation, which I refused to
participate in, because I felt the Town Clerk’s victimisation of myself was being swept under the
carpet and not taken seriously.
My second reporting of the Town Clerk to the Special Committee, which she has provided evidence
of in her complaint, was because I genuinely believed she was interfering with the political decision
making of the Members with her recommending that the town council does not adopt a policy in
relation to the Parade Marshal, even though at the town council’s Policy & Resources Committee
Meeting held remotely on Tuesday, 4th August, 2020, a motion was passed by the town council that
the Constitution Working Group to consider adopting policies in relation to the parade Marshall and
the town’s ceremonial union flag.
The reason why I genuinely believe it was a case of interfering with the political decision making is
because the policy in relation to the Parade Marshal that I had drafted up and submitted to the
council contained the nominating and election of the Parade Marshal annually.
The Town Clerk had previously expressed opposition to a change to the election and nomination of
the position of Parade Marshal back to its original annual occurrence when I brought to council as a
motion in 2019 after the town council without any authority, voted in November 2018 to appoint a
Parade Marshal on a permanent basis.
The reason why the town council did not have the authority to appoint a Parade Marshal on a
permanent basis was that the town council was not responsible for the organising of the
Remembrance Sunday Parade and one of the fundamental aspects of organising the Remembrance
Sunday Parade is the nomination and election of a Parade Marshal annually.
This means that the town council’s decision to nominate and appoint their own Parade Marshal,
which has been claimed by some Members was a decision of the Town Clerk to prevent myself
becoming the next Parade Marshal, a position I have never expressed an interests in, and even
though it was brought as an amendment motion by a Member, could be classed as ‘ultra vires’.
In regards to the town’s ceremonial union flag, I appreciate that there is no formal policy that has
been adopted yet, even though at the town council’s Policy & Resources Committee Meeting held
remotely on Tuesday, 4th August, 2020, it was passed along with the consideration of adopting
Parade Marshal policy.
The ceremonial union flag, which the town council had contributed £200 towards, had been
dedicated to the town by the members of the towns veterans community of which I am heavily
involved with and presented to the Town Council to be used on Remembrance Sunday and other
events, because the town did not have its own flag.
It is because of my involvement in the town’s veteran’s community and the Town Clerk’s obvious
dislike of myself, I feel is the reason why the Town Clerk will not work with the town’s veterans
community and therefore, would not arrange for the town’s ceremonial flag to be carried on
Remembrance Sunday.

105

Page 249

The Town Clerk’s claims that I was targeting her further by trying to make changes to procedures
only in relation to her are not true. I believe she is making this claim to prevent any possible future
grievances towards her by any Members.
If a Member as an issue with any other members of staff then there are adequate procedures in
place to deal with it. However, when it comes to the Town Clerk the Member/Officer Protocol is
flawed, because under Section 2.9 of this protocol states:
“Where the matter relates to the Town Clerk, the Lead Member for HR/the Town Clerk’s Line
Manager will seek to resolve the matter at a local level and if this cannot be achieved then will make
a referral to the Monitoring Officer at Durham County Council in the context of the Standards
Committee considering the complaint.”
I have previously spoken directly with the Monitoring Officer at Durham County Council in relation
to the above Section 2.9 and she confirmed what I already knew, which is the Monitoring Officer
does not deal with issues relating to a Town Clerk.
With this in mind and wanting to propose changes to the Member/Officer Protocol, which I am
entitled to do, at the Constitutional Working Group meeting held in March 2020, I wanted to remove
Section 2.9, because it was irrelevant, but the Town Clerk wanted it remaining in place, and replace
it with a Member to have the right to Appeal against the decision of the Special Committee.
In the meeting I did mention that when I was talking about the Town Clerk, I was talking about the
position of Town Clerk and not the person that holds that position. This was important for me to
distinguish, because I didn’t want any allegations of bullying, intimidation aimed towards me.
I feel that the Town Clerk as a problem herself with distinguishing the difference between the
position of Town Clerk and the individual that holds that position and this is why she has formed the
opinion that I am targeting her as a person to bully, harass and intimidate, which I am not.
With regards to the Town Clerk’s claim that during a discussion about the November 2019,
Remembrance Sunday Parade, I did not point my finger at and I did not say those words that had
been taken down in the hand written minutes.
With being a British Army veteran Remembrance Sunday is a very emotional time of year for me and
other veterans alike and the Remembrance Sunday Parade should be organised properly by
observing the formal military criteria for the Order of March and the laying of the poppy wreaths.
This was not observed with the Brownies leading the parade and the laying of the wreaths messed
up again for another year, which resulted in one lady veteran being reduced to tears, another elderly
lady saying she wouldn’t attend another Remembrance Sunday Parade in the town and other
veterans expressing to me their embarrassment and disgust on how the parade and wreath laying
went.

Page 250

106

I attended the Remembrance Sunday as a veteran and not as a town councillor and I was critical of
how the town council had organised the parade and out of frustration I did swear.
During the debate on the Remembrance Sunday Parade, I did apologise to the Council for swearing,
because there would have been people at the war memorial that wouldn’t have realised I was not
there in my capacity has a Town Councillor, as a veteran laying a wreath on behalf of my regimental
association.
The debate was an emotive one for me with being a veteran and the upset reaction from others to
the organising of it and when the Town Clerk accused me of getting at the staff that organised the
parade, I was blunt and said to the Town Clerk, “I wasn’t getting at the staff, I was getting at you!”
The Town Clerk states in her complaint that since it was not upheld that I had not bullied her when
she put in her first complaint against me, COM 263, that I feel I have ‘carte blanche’ that I can carry
on with my behaviour and that she feels it has escalated.
I have stated above that I have as little contact as possible with the Town Clerk to avoid any false
allegations of bullying that she has a record of doing, not just to myself, but to other Members as
well, so I cannot see how my behaviour towards her has escalated and I feel she is making these,
because I have exercised my right to use current policy to put forward legitimate grievances against
her.
The reason why I published the email (Appendix 4) from Councillor Ranyard and the Town Clerk was
to defend against the comment made by De Hickson (Appendix 5), whom suggested that my original
post (Appendix 6) was bullying of the Facilities Manager and to defend against the one sided claims
made previously by De Hickson on social media, of Councillors bullying Officers.
.
De Hickson is the mother to Councillor Dean Ranyard’s wife or girlfriend and the amateur dramatics
group she belongs to uses Spennymoor Town Council’s town hall to put on its productions, which
could explain why on occasions, she has comes to the defence of Officers on social media when
there has been criticism made of them by members of the public.
On Wednesday, 9 December, 2020, at 10:59, I received an email (Appendix 7) from Councillor Ian
Geldard, whom is the Town Clerk’s line manager, informing me of a complaint made to him from the
Town Clerk about my facebook post publishing the email in question and what I wrote.
In his email, Councillor Geldard wrote:
“The complainant has requested that this complaint is referred to the Standards Committee at DCC.
In line with the above section, I have asked the complainant what local resolution could mitigate
against the complaint.

107

Page 251

As a local resolution and due to the comments having been made on Facebook in public, you would
be required to immediately retract your Facebook comments and issue a public apology for the
remarks, on Facebook.
If you are unable or unwilling to undertake the above, I will refer the complaint to the DCC
Monitoring Officer/Standards Committee for investigation as per the above process.
Could you please respond to this email no later than Tuesday 15th December advising of your
intentions in relation to this matter.”
In his email Councillor Geldard also wrote:
“The complaint refers to the attached comments from Facebook, alleges that you have accused the
Town Clerk and a Councillor of conspiring against you; and that the defines 'conspiring' as making
secret plans jointly to commit an unlawful or harmful act.”
And:
“In relation to Section 2.4, the complainant believes you have created an impression that the Town
Clerk and Cllr Ranyard may have some type of inappropriate relationship.”
When I viewed my emails during my dinner break on the same day of receiving Councillor Geldard’s
email, I went onto facebook, reviewed what I had written and thought that word ‘conspired’ may
have been the wrong word to use and deleted my post. I put up and apology (Appendix 8), which I
thought complied with what Councillor Geldard had requested and sent him an email (Appendix 9)
to confirm this.
However, according to www.dictionary.com (Appendix 10) the word ‘conspire’ also means ‘to act or
work together toward the same result or goal’, which can be construed has what both Councillor
Ranyard and the Town Clerk actually did to try and make me out to be a bully!
I refute the Town Clerk’s claim that I created an impression of some type of inappropriate
relationship between herself and Councillor Ranyard, and that I have acted in a way to bully or
intimidate her or anyone else. Like I have said above, I posted the email and made the comment to
defend myself and other Members that have wrongly been accused of bullying.
In regards to the Town Clerk’s claim that I inevitably target her when other Members do not support
my ideas, there is no truth in this. This is because when I have had some of my ideas rejected by
other Members, I respect their right to formulate their own opinions and vote accordingly. Also, The
Town Clerk has not provided any evidence to support her claim on this issue.
I feel one of the main causes for the breakdown in respect, trust and the working relationship
between me and the Town Clerk was when my wife and I had meeting with her last March after a
discussion with the local Post Master, to see about using the town hall’s main hall as a central point
to work with local organisations such as Helping Spennymoor, to assist mainly the elderly members

Page 252

108

of the community to receive donated toilet rolls from the townsfolk when there was a shortage has
the Coronavirus situation hit the country.
The Town came across enthusiastic and even suggested including other items such as hand sanitizer
and hand soap, but she would have to speak with the Lead Member for Policy & Resources,
Councillor Ian Geldard, to see if the town hall could be used and she would get back to me.
I received a phone about 30 minutes later from the Town Clerk informing me that unfortunately the
town hall couldn’t be used for this type of project after seeking health and safety advice, some staff
have underlying health issues and the town hall was possibly be closing.
Four days later the Town Clerk sent an email (Appendix 11) to Members and staff, informing us that
the Town Council would be getting involved with local organisations to put care packages together
and to be distributed from the town hall and that there was enough volunteers, so she wasn’t asking
for anymore assistance.
I didn’t receive an invitation off the Town Clerk to help out and I know other Members didn’t receive
an invite either, but the Town Clerk allowed Councillors Judith and Ian Machin and Councillor Ian
Geldard were allowed to volunteer with the care package project seemingly having been used by the
Town Clerk to promote those three Members in the Northern Echo (Appendix 14) for doing this
charitable work. However, the Town Clerk has in the past accused me of using my Councillor
position for charitable work, which I never did, and informed me that I shouldn’t be doing that, but it
seems like double standards on behalf of the Town Clerk.
This project by the Town Clerk was not too dissimilar to the one my wife and I went to see her about
and it came as a shock when I read her email, so I sent her a response back (Appendix 12) basically
asking what was the difference between what I wanted to do and what she was doing. She provided
a response (Appendix 13).
I do feel that I am being victimised by the Town Clerk and I feel the real reason why she continues
with these bullying claims is to build up a case for her possible legal action against the town Council.
Councillor Pete Molloy

109

Page 253

Appendix
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.
10.
11.
12.
13.
14.

Page 254

Letter of complaint.
Legal action threat.
First complaint to Special Committee.
Email post.
De Hickson’s comment.
Pete Molloy’s original post.
Councillor Ian Geldard’s email.
Councillor Pete Molloy’s apology.
Councillor Pete Molloy’s email response to Councillor Geldard.
Dictionary.com definition.
Town Clerk’s care packages email.
Pete Molloy’s email response to the Town clerk.
Town Clerks care packages response.
Northern Echo article.

110

1. Letter of complaint.

111

Page 255

Page 256

112

2. Legal action threat.

113

Page 257

3. First complaint to the Special Committee

Page 258

114

115

Page 259

Page 260

116

4. Email post.

117

Page 261

5.

Page 262

De Hickson’s post.

118

6.

Pete Molloy’s original post.

119

Page 263

7. Councillor Ian Geldard’s email.
Ian Geldard ian.geldard@spennymoor-tc.gov.uk via spennymoortc.onmicrosoft.com
Attachments
9 Dec 2020, 10:59
to me, Pete
Good Morning Cllr Molloy,
As Lead Member for Council Policy and Infrastructure, and the member with Line Management
responsibilities for the Town Clerk, I have received a complaint from the Clerk that you have acted
outside of the Member/Officer Protocol in recent Facebook comments.
Background of the Complaint
The complaint refers to the attached comments from Facebook, alleges that you have accused the
Town Clerk and a Councillor of conspiring against you; and that the defines 'conspiring' as making
secret plans jointly to commit an unlawful or harmful act.
In particular the complainant alleges that you have breached sections 3.1 and 3.2 of the Member
Code of Conduct:
1. he/she shall behave in such a way that a reasonable person would regard as respectful at all
times, and not bring the Town Council or their office into disrepute;
2.
he/she shall not act in a way which a reasonable person would regard as bullying or
intimidatory;
The complainant believes you have been disrespectful by making an allegation against her on social
media/in public, and that your behaviour is intimidatory.
Furthermore, the complainant alleges that you have breached sections 2.2-2.4 of the
Member/Officer protocol:
2.2
At the heart of the Codes and this Protocol, is the importance of mutual respect.
Member/Officer relationships are to be conducted in a positive and constructive way. Therefore, it is
important that any dealings between Members and Officers should observe standards of courtesy
and that neither party should seek to take unfair advantage of their position or seek to exert undue
influence on the other party.
2.3
Members must respect the impartiality and integrity of all the Council's Officers. Similarly, all
Officers must respect the role of Members as elected representatives and the roles of other Officers
at all times.

Page 264

120

2.4
Inappropriate relationships can be inferred from language/style. To protect both Members
and Officers, Officers should address Members at all formal meetings as Councillor XXX and Mr or
Madam Chairman save where circumstances clearly indicate that a level of informality is
appropriate, e.g. a one to one meeting. Similarly when addressing Officers at formal meetings of the
Council, Members should address Officers by their post title.
In relation to Section 2.4, the complainant believes you have created an impression that the Town
Clerk and Cllr Ranyard may have some type of inappropriate relationship.
Handling the Complaint
In terms of handling this complaint, as Lead Member for Council Policy and Infrastructure, I must
take action in line with section 2.9 such:
Where the matter relates to the Town Clerk, the Lead Member for HR/the Town Clerk's Line
Manager will seek to resolve the matter at a local level and if this cannot be achieved then will make
a referral to the Monitoring Officer at Durham County Council in the context of the Standards
Committee considering the complaint.
The complainant has requested that this complaint is referred to the Standards Committee at DCC.
In line with the above section, I have asked the complainant what local resolution could mitigate
against the complaint.
As a local resolution and due to the comments having been made on Facebook in public, you would
be required to immediately retract your Facebook comments and issue a public apology for the
remarks, on Facebook.
If you are unable or unwilling to undertake the above, I will refer the complaint to the DCC
Monitoring Officer/Standards Committee for investigation as per the above process.
Could you please respond to this email no later than Tuesday 15th December advising of your
intentions in relation to this matter.
Many thanks,
Councillor Ian Geldard.
________________________________
Councillor Ian Geldard BSc Hons (Dunelm) CertHE CiLCA AMBCS
Lead Member for Council Policy & Infrastructure
Tel: 01388 815276
Mob: 07956817168
ian.geldard@spennymoor-tc.gov.uk<mailto:igeldard@spennymoortowncouncil.gov.uk>

121

Page 265

8. Councillor Pete Molloy’s apology

Page 266

122

9. Councillor Pete Molloy’s email response to Councillor Geldard.
Peter Molloy <molloy418@googlemail.com>
Attachments
9 Dec 2020, 12:31
to Ian
Hi Ian,
Deleted the comment and left an apology.
Regards,
Pete

123

Page 267

10. Dictionary.com definition

Page 268

124

11. Town Clerk’s care packages email.

125

Page 269

Page 270

126

127

Page 271

Page 272

128

129

Page 273

12. Pete Molloy’s email response to the Town clerk.

Page 274

130

131

Page 275

Page 276

132

133

Page 277

13. Town Clerk’s care packages email response.

Page 278

134

135

Page 279

Page 280

136

14. Northern Echo article.

137

Page 281

Page 282

138

139

Page 283

Page 284

140

141

Page 285

Page 286

142

Appendix 5
Decision notice

DECISION NOTICE:
INVESTIGATION
Complaint References - COM 322, 323, 324
Three complaints were received from two Officers of Spennymoor Town Council
concerning the alleged conduct of Councillor Pete Molloy of Spennymoor Town
Council. The complaints were reviewed and considered to be linked and as such
have been considered together in accordance with Durham County Council’s
Procedure for Local Assessment of Complaints (“the Procedure”).
The Procedure requires the Monitoring Officer to ensure that all Code of Conduct
complaints are assessed as soon as reasonably possible, and normally within 20
working days. The Monitoring Officer, in consultation with the Independent
Person where appropriate, will ensure that the complaint is considered and
decide if any action should be taken on it.
The Monitoring Officer has delegated responsibility for the initial assessment of
Code of Conduct Complaints to the Governance Solicitor.
Following initial assessment of the complaint, there are four possible outcomes:
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)

That no action should be taken in respect of the complaint
To seek local resolution
To refer the complaint for investigation
To refer the complaint to the Standards Committee

Where the complaint is against a person who is no longer a Member of the
Council, but is a member of another relevant authority, it may be referred to the
Monitoring Officer of that other relevant authority if this is more appropriate.
This decision notice is produced to record the decision taken following initial
assessment and includes the main points considered, the conclusion and the
reasons for that conclusion. It will be available for inspection at the offices of the
Council for 6 years beginning with the date of the decision. However, the
decision notice will not be made available for inspection until the member who
was the subject of the complaint has received it.

KCP / 028181

Page 1

143

Page 287

Complaint
The complaints relate to the conduct of Councillor Pete Molloy (hereafter, the
Member). The complaints are summarised below:
COM 322
During a Budget Workshop on 19 November 2020 attended by Councillors, the
Clerk and the Complainant, who is the Finance Officer for the Council, the
Member suggested getting rid of the Complainant’s post to save money. The
Member was advised by the Chair that this this was inappropriate, both because
the Complainant was party to the meeting and because any decisions about
posts would need to follow a formal review process for all posts.
On 4 December 2020, the Member posted on Facebook, in his official capacity
as Councillor, suggesting the removal of the Complainant’s post from the Town
Council.
The Complainant reported the post to his line manager, who requested that the
Member remove the post and apologise. This was not done.
The Complainant expressed that he feels bullied and humiliated by the Member’s
actions.
COM 323 & 324
These complaints were made by the Clerk, with com 323 submitted by the Clerk
on behalf of the Council. They outline several allegations against the Member.
The Clerk has previously made a complaint against the Member in 2019. The
Clerk’s current complaint is made as she alleges the Member has continued to
behave badly. The Complainant alleges the Member’s behaviour is a breach of
the code of conduct.
The outcome of the 2019 complaint was local resolution and a recommendation
of mediation between the Member and the Complainant. However, the Member
was unwilling to attend.
In December 2019 the Member presented a report to Council. There was a
Council discussion following the report, which was about the remembrance
parade, and it is alleged that the Member made derogatory comment about the
staff who had helped organising the event. The Member is alleged to have
responded aggressively, pointing at the Complainant and saying, “with all respect
it’s her I’m on about”.
In March 2020 at a Council Working Group meeting the Member put forward
proposals to amend the member officer protocol. The Member was not seeking
to make changes that would affect any officer but the Complainant. The
Claimant alleges that this is further evidence that the Member is targeting her.
KCP / 028181

Page 288

Page 2

144

In November 2020 the Member submitted two complaints against the
Complainant. The complaints were investigated and it was determined no further
action was required.
In December 2020 the complainant became aware of a social media post made
by the Member, which referred to her and another councillor. The Member had
published an email without permission, which the Complainant alleges is a data
breach. The Complainant has also reported this to the ICO. The Member
apologised for this. However, the apology given was not a full apology, but
limited to the Member apologising for his use of the word ‘conspired’.
The Complainant considers that since her complaint in 2019 the Member has
bullied her. She says the conduct of the member has had a negative effect on
her physical and mental wellbeing and she feels feeling bullied, harassed and
intimated.
Potential breaches of Spennymoor Town Council’s Code of Conduct
•

Paragraph 1 – he /she shall behave in a way that a reasonable person
would regard as respectful at all times, and not bring the Town Council
into disrepute.

•

Paragraph 2 – he/she shall not act in a way which a reasonable person
would regard as bullying or intimidatory.

•

Paragraph 5 - he/she shall not share, discuss or disclose information to
others which is confidential or where disclose is prohibited by law;

•

Paragraph 7 he/she must compliant with any standing orders, polices and
procedures adopted by the Council which seek to regular the conduct of
its elected Members.

Potential non-compliance with the Member Officer protocol and social media
policy have been identified:
Member Officer protocol:
2.2 At the heart of the Codes and this Protocol, is the importance of
mutual respect. Member/Officer relationships are to be conducted in a
positive and constructive way. Therefore, it is important that any dealings
between Members and Officers should observe standards of courtesy and
that neither party should seek to take unfair advantage of their position or
seek to exert undue influence on the other party
2.5 A Member should not raise matters relating to the conduct or
capability of an Officer in a manner that is incompatible with the objectives
of this Protocol. This is a long-standing tradition in public service. An
Officer has no means of responding to criticisms in public. If a Member
feels he/she has not been treated with proper respect, courtesy or has any
KCP / 028181

Page 3

145

Page 289

concern about the conduct or capability of an Officer, and fails to resolve it
through direct discussion with the Officer, he/she should raise the matter
with the Town Clerk. If the Member continues to feel concern, then he/she
should report the facts to the Town Clerk. Any action taken against an
Officer in respect of a complaint will be in accordance with the provisions
of the Council's Disciplinary Rules and Procedures.
Social media policy:
Social media should not be used in a way that does anything that could be
reasonably considered insulting, threatening, discriminatory against, or
bullying or harassment of any individual for example by:
Making offensive or derogatory comments relating to sex, gender
reassignment, race (including nationality) disability, sexual orientation,
religion, age or:
Using social media to bully another individual (such as an Officer or
service user of the Council; or,
Posting images or comments that are offensive, obscene or links to
such content or:
Response from Member
The Member provided comprehensive responses to the complaints,
accompanied by a number of appendices in evidence which were reviewed as
part of this assessment process. The responses for each complaint are outlined
below:
COM 322
The Member states that at the towns council’s Budget Workshop, held remotely
on Thursday 19 November 2020, he mentioned how a large proportion of the
budget is spent on staffing costs and that the council may need to review staffing
with the possibility of phasing out the position of Facilities Manager.
The Member denies that the Complainant expressed or appeared shocked or
embarrassed. He recalls the Chairman made a comment that there was no need
to hold a staffing review. He does not recall the Chairman of the meeting
mentioning anything about targeting and embarrassing an individual.
The Member admits posting on his official Facebook page on 3 December 2020
and mentioning the amount spent on staffing costs, He says a responsible
Councillor should be looking at ways to save money and that is all he was trying
to do.
The Member states the Complainant has not complied with Member Officer
protocol himself at times. He gave an example of a Facebook message from the
Complainant on 2 August 2019, which the Member says was not respectful and
could be construed as aggressive in tone.

KCP / 028181

Page 290

Page 4

146

The accusations of bullying the Complainant are denied by the Member. He feels
that in fact he has been victimised since being elected.

COM 323 & 324
The Member denies any conduct which amounts to bullying, harassment and
intimidation. The Member states that he has had little contact with the
Complainant due to the allegations made previously and he now includes the
Mayor in correspondence to protect himself. He says there is a breakdown of
respect and trust in the working relationship.
He says he made the post in question on his Facebook page in response to
allegations of bullying made on the page and removed the post when requested
to do so.
The Member believes that the Complainant has been targeting him to tarnish his
character, to the point of victimising him, which he believes stems from a letter of
complaint he sent to her dated 22 November 2018
The Member states that following the previous complaint (COM 263) he has
purposely had as little contact as possible with the Complainant. He advised that
although mediation was recommended previously, he refused to participate as
he felt his concerns about the Complainant’s behaviour towards him were not
taken seriously.
The Member advised he is entitled to propose changes to the Member/Officer
Protocol, and he did so in the proper forum, at the Constitutional Working Group
meeting held in March 2020. He says he had legitimate reasons for proposing
the change, because the section in question was irrelevant. The Member also
says he clarified in the meeting that when he was talking about the Town Clerk,
he was referring to the position of Town Clerk and not the person that holds that
position. He says he felt this was important to distinguish, because of the
background and he didn’t want any allegations of bullying.
The Member denies completely the allegation that during a discussion about the
November 2019 Remembrance Sunday Parade he pointed his finger and said
the words alleged by the Complainant.
Decision
The Governance Solicitor has decided that an investigation is required in respect
of these complaints.

Reasons for decision
There is clearly a background of acrimony between the Member and the
Complainants. Historical events are clearly still in the minds of the parties and
despite a previous recommendation for mediation, this did not take place. The
KCP / 028181

Page 5

147

Page 291

parties have been unable to put the past behind them and move forward
constructively.
COM 322
The Member’s actions may be considered inappropriate. However, it is difficult
to assess on the basis of information provided whether the conduct complained
of does amount to bullying.
Investigation will enable others present at meetings and referred to in complaints
to be interviewed or to provide statements which will provide a clearer picture,

COM 323 & 324
The allegation about the Member’s comments around the remembrance parade
in December 2019 are difficult to substantiate. The meeting happened over a
year before this complaint was received and the accounts of the Member and
Complainant are at odds. A significant amount of documentation has been
produced and considered but the Governance Solicitor is unable to make a
conclusive finding on initial assessment.
Given the seriousness of the
allegations, it is necessary to gather more information, including statements from
others.
The Member’s proposal to amend the Member Officer Protocol also dates back
some time, to March 2020. This was almost a year prior to the submission of the
complaint. On balance, it seems reasonable for the Member to suggest
amendments to the protocol and such suggestions were made in the correct
forum.
The Complainant alleges that since her complaint in 2019 the Member has
bullied her. She implies that complaints he made about her in November 2020
are part of this campaign of bullying.
This complaint really centres around the Complainant’s perception of the
Member’s actions. The recollections of the parties differ, with both parties
interpreting the words and actions of the other as being bullying/victimising in
nature.
Ordinarily, a recommendation for mediation would be made. However, a previous
recommendation was not implemented, and mediation could not take place
without agreement of both parties.
In the circumstances, and in light of the serious allegations of bullying and
ongoing acrimony between the parties, further investigation is required.
This decision notice is sent to the people that made the allegations, the Clerk to
Spennymoor Town Council and the Member against whom the allegations were
made.

KCP / 028181

Page 292

Page 6

148

Right of Appeal
Code of Conduct complaints are governed by the provisions set out in the
Localism Act 2011. The Localism Act 2011 does not allow a right of appeal and
this decision is final.

Terms of reference
The Localism Act 2011
Signed

Leanne Nash
Governance Solicitor
Date: 13 May 2021

KCP / 028181

Page 7

149

Page 293

Appendix 6
Response to draft report

Comments from Councillor Pete Molloy
In review of your report and in paragraph 8, ’Findings’, you state that you will report your findings
under the following headings:
(a)Cllr Molloy’s behaviour towards Ms Hierons; and
(b) Cllr Molloy’s behaviour towards Mr Ranson;
There were no headings for findings for either Ms Hierons’s or Mr Ranson’s behaviour towards
myself, despite me submitting four statements from current Town Councillors and two former Town
Councillors.
There is no mention at all of these statements in your report, which were from eyewitnesses that
explained Ms Hierons’s behaviour towards myself and how Ms Hierons added two additions to
Complaint 323 that were not on the agenda for Members to discuss and to take a vote on to be
included in the complaint, so she had added them to the complaint without authority to do so.
In respect to Mr Ranson, I provided evidence from a private message he sent to me in which the
tone of the text was questionable for an Officer to talk to a Member and there was no mention of
this too in your report.
The last sentence of paragraph 49, you state: “Given their similarity, I consider that these two
incidents do constitute a pattern of behaviour.”
This is in relation to an initial facebook post in July 2019 and a responding facebook post in
December 2020. The time between these two dates is 17 months, which I am concerned that two
separate incidents with a long time difference can constitute a pattern of behaviour. If there were 2,
3, 5 or even 10 years between two separate incidents would it still be constituted as a ‘pattern of
behaviour’?
In paragraph 50, you concluded that I intentionally set out to undermine Ms Hierons with my post in
December, 2020. I explained the reason I posted was in my defence to the accusation of bullying
and was certainly not my intention to undermine Ms Hierons, but I can understand that it was
probably a reckless approach to take on my behalf and along with the response I made to another
person’s post and for that I apologise to Ms Hierons.
In paragraph 58, you mention that Councillor Geldard said my comment was ‘inappropriate’, but I
cannot see in your report that you have spoken with Councillor Geldard directly to ascertain this is
actually what he said, or is this just what Mr Ranson said Councillor Geldard did say? I do not recall
Councillor Geldard saying it was inappropriate.
With regards to you concluding that with me posting on facebook that I intentionally undermined Mr
Ranson, I do not agree that I did. This is because I was being open and honest in how money could
be saved from the staffing budget, irrespective if there was a need to or not, and I genuinely thought

Page 294

150

this was in adherence to the Nolan Principles of ‘Openness’ and ‘Honesty’, but I do understand that
my actions in putting the post up can be construed has being reckless and for that I apologise to Mr
Ranson.
I do not mean to be disrespectful, but after reading your report it comes across as being one-sided in
favour of both Ms Hierons and Mr Ranson, because I cannot see any mention or any consideration
taken into account on how I have been treated by Ms Hierons since being elected onto the town
council in May, 2019, which evidence was provided in the statements from the eyewitnesses when
in her professional role as the Town Clerk she should could have approached me to provide guidance
and treat me in the same manner as she would to any other Member.
Since being elected in May 2019, I feel the lack of guidance and support that has not been given to
me has caused me great stress and anxiety, which has affected my role as a Town Councillor and my
family life. Along with these three complaints, I have had another three complaints (one has been
concluded with no further action) made against me since June 2021, which came after I suffered
online abuse, harassment and bullying that was supported by a Spennymoor Town Council tenant
and resulted in the police being involved and an official warning being issued.
I did inform Ms Hierons of the above incident involving the police and despite Ms Hierons saying the
tenant would receive a letter informing them that their behaviour is not acceptable, I have not
received acknowledgement that this has been done nor have I received any personal support from
the town council or have I seen the town council publish a condemnation of the online abuse,
harassment and bullying or support of such behaviour towards one of its Members, which makes me
feel that I am not a valued Member of the town council.
I feel that there have been mistakes and misunderstandings on all parties involved in this report and
I also feel your conclusion in your report of identifying me as being a bully, which is not a true
reflection of my character and could leave a long term damaging effect on me in the community I
serve, not only as a Town Councillor, but a County Councillor too, this I feel is not a fair finding.
Thank you for reading my comments and I hope they are taken into consideration in finalising your
report and if you feel the need to speak with me again, I am happy to do so.
Councillor Pete Molloy

151

Page 295

Appendix 7
COM263

DECISION NOTICE:
LOCAL RESOLUTION
Complaint Ref No. COM 263
On 26 February 2020 the Governance Solicitor considered a complaint
presented on behalf of the Clerk to the Town Council concerning the alleged
conduct of Councillor Peter Molloy of Spennymoor Town Council (the Member) in
accordance with Durham County Council’s Procedure for Local Assessment of
Complaints (“the Procedure”).
The Procedure requires the Monitoring Officer to ensure that all Code of Conduct
complaints are assessed as soon as reasonably possible. The Monitoring
Officer, in consultation with the Independent Person where appropriate, will
ensure that the complaint is considered and decide if any action should be taken
on it.
The complaint has been subject to initial assessment and was referred for
investigation. Following the investigation there are four possible outcomes:
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)

That no action should be taken in respect of the complaint
To seek local resolution
To refer the complaint for investigation
To refer the complaint to the Standards Committee

Where the complaint is against a person who is no longer a Member of the
Council, but is a member of another relevant authority, it may be referred to the
Monitoring Officer of that other relevant authority if this is more appropriate.
This decision notice is produced to record the decision taken following initial
assessment and includes the main points considered, the conclusion and the
reasons for that conclusion. It will be available for inspection at the offices of the
Council for six years beginning with the date of the decision. However, the
decision notice will not be made available for inspection until the member who
was the subject of the complaint has received it.

Page 296

Page
1
152

Complaint
On 13 July 2019 it became known that the Member made had a series of what
were considered derogatory comments on Facebook about the Town Clerk. The
comments were made on a Facebook page titled, ‘Spennymoor Whats
Happening’ as well as on the Facebook page shown as Councillor Pete Molloy.
The comments were as follows, “Some Councillors would have voted the way
they did for genuine reasons and I respect that. Other Councillors would have
voted because they are Town Clerk ‘Loyalists’. My motion was the perfect
opportunity to stop the ‘tail wagging the dog’, but sadly it continues”.
The Member then commented, “some Councillors may have had genuine
reasons for voting the way they did and I respect that. However, the Town Clerk
‘Loyalists’ will always vote in her favour”. The Complainant finds the comments
relating to the Clerk to be inaccurate and insulting.
The Member was asked to remove the posts and to offer a public and personal
apology to the Town Clerk. The Member complied with this request and
removed the posts. The Member apologised to the Town Clerk however the
apology was not public or personal. The apology was considered insufficient.
Potential breaches of the Code of Conduct
The allegations in this case relate to a potential breach of the following
paragraphs of the Code of Conduct:
1. He/she shall behave in such a way that a reasonable person would regard as
respectful at all times, and not bring the Town Council or their office into
disrepute.
2. He /she shall not act in a way which a reasonable person would regard as
bullying or intimidatory.
6. He/she must comply with any standing orders, policies and procedures
adopted by the Council which seek to regulate the conduct of its elected
members. This includes the member officer protocol and social media.
9. He/she must not seek to circumvent these obligations by positing or otherwise
publishing on social media or elsewhere, anonymously or under a
pseudonym, information or opinion which would otherwise breach this code.
The Governance Solicitor was advised by the Complainant that the complaint
was not to include an allegation of a breach of paragraph 9 of the Code of
Conduct.
The Complainant confirmed to the Governance Solicitor and the Investigating
Officer that this was not part of the original complaint which she raised and did
not consider that the Member had been posting on social media anonymously or
under a pseudonym. For this reason the Governance Solicitor will not consider
an allegation of a breach of paragraph 9.

Page
2
153

Page 297

Decision
The Governance Solicitor has decided that local resolution is required in respect
of this complaint, specifically training on the use of social media and the code of
conduct and to provide a personal apology to the Complainant which will be
publicly recorded.
Independent Person
The views of the Independent Person have been sought on the investigation, the
draft decision notice and given the opportunity to comment. The Independent
Person agreed with the format and content of the Decision Notice. The
Independent Person made the observation that the decision is a sensible way
forward for all concerned. It is important to note that the rapidly changing nature
of social media and the interaction of elected members with the wider public
requires us all to ensure a period of self-reflection before statements are made
which can be easily misconstrued.
Reasons for decision
The Governance Solicitor carefully considered the report of the Investigating
Officer and considers the report to be comprehensive. The Investigating Officer
was asked to consider possible breaches of the Code of Conduct for
Spennymoor Town Council, namely paragraphs 1, 2, 6 and 9. The Governance
Solicitor notes the findings of the Investigating Officer that there is evidence of a
breach in respect of paragraphs 1 and 6 specifically:


He/she shall behave in such a way that a reasonable person would regard as
respectful at all times, and not bring the Town Council or their office into
disrepute.



He/she must comply with any standing orders, policies and procedures
adopted by the Council which seek to regulate the conduct of its elected
members. This includes the member officer protocol and social media.

In the initial response to the complaint prior to the investigation, the Member
accepted that he had made the comments however he did not agree that the
comments were offensive but rather his ‘honest opinion on how Members voted
and their reasons for how they voted’. The Member refuted the allegation that his
single post on the Facebook page equated to bullying towards the Complainant.
The Member accepted that he used his Councillor Facebook page to make the
comments but felt that he has the right to express his views on social media as a
way of communicating with the community of Spennymoor.
The Governance Solicitor concurs with the recommendations of the Investigating
Officer in that there is insufficient evidence of a breach of paragraph 9 of the
code, the Member did not make the comments ‘anonymously or under a
pseudonym’, the Member throughout has acknowledged that he made the
comments using his Councillor Facebook page. In any event the allegations in
relation to a breach of paragraph 9 were not presented by the Complainant as
set out earlier.

Page 298

Page
3
154

The Governance Solicitor recognises that both the Member and the Complainant
due to their roles ought to maintain a professional relationship. When interviewed
both parties confirmed that they are able to work together. The issue has arisen
due to what the Complainant describes as the Member blaming her personally
for a failed motion put forward by him. The Complainant has expressed the
impact this has caused specifically distress and a reduction in confidence. The
Complainant considered that had the Member had an issue it would have been
appropriate to raise the issue with her or the Deputy Clerk rather than post his
concerns on Facebook. The Complainant acknowledged that the posts were
taken down once the Member had been asked. The Complainant also
acknowledged that an apology had been provided however as this was not in
public and on social media she found this apology to be insufficient and therefore
to escalated this.
The Governance Solicitor notes that the Member during his interview with the
Investigating Officer indicated that he was elected in May 2019 and as part of his
election pledge, he promised to resolve the on-going issues, in particular one of
which he felt very strongly about due his armed forces background. The Member
during his interview explained that the motion he put forward was a way to try
and fulfil his election pledge. The Member explained that his intention behind
posting the comments was to communicate to the public his opinion of why the
motion failed. He explained that he felt it was very important to be open and
transparent with the public on this issue, considering that it was part of his
election pledge. The Governance Solicitor observes that the Member did not find
the post offensive, nor did he intend for it to be offensive towards the
Complainant however he accepts that this is subjective.
The Member when he was asked to remove the posts and he did so willingly as
soon as the request was made of him. Equally when the Member was asked to
provide a written apology he did this. The Member states that he was not aware
that the apology was to be a public apology however during his interview with the
Investigating Officer he confirmed he would be willing to issue a public apology.
Additionally the Member accepted that he will in future will consider carefully how
he phases his communications to the public
The Code for the Council applies to members:
“Whenever they conduct the business of the Council, including the business of
the office to which they were elected or appointed, or when they claim to act or
give the impression of acting as a representative of the Council”.
The Governance Solicitor is satisfied that the posts were made in the Members
capacity as a Councillor. The posts were made on the Members Councillor
Facebook page which satisfies the requirement “when they claim to act or give
the impression of acting as a representative of the Council”.

Page
4
155

Page 299

The Governance Solicitor considers that the Member made it clear his intention
was not to criticise or offend the Complainant. It is also acknowledged that upon
the Councillor learning of the offence caused he removed the post promptly. The
Member accepts that he did not intend to cause offence however it must be
noted that care should be taken when making remarks online which refer to an
unelected official, who cannot answer back as easily as an elected member.
Whilst the Investigating Officer does not make any finding of a breach of the
code in relation to bullying the Governance Solicitor has cognisance of the case
of Heesom v Public Service Ombudsman for Wales [2014] EWHC 1504 relating
to bullying which states that:
“Bullying does not require any lengthy course, but does require (i) some intention
(“attempt”) on the perpetrator's behalf to undermine the individual who is the
object the conduct, and (ii) some effect on that individual, in terms of intimidation,
upset or detriment to his or her confidence, capability or health”.
Whilst in this instance the allegation relates to a single incident and does not
establish a course or pattern of behaviour there is no doubt that the repetition of
such conduct could amount to a pattern and the Member must have regard to
this.
In relation to the allegations for treating others with respect, the Governance
Solicitor notes that the Investigating Officer considers that the view of the
complaint was reasonably held in that the Member had in his comment been
disrespectful to her. It is to be highlighted that the Member’s conduct was
mitigated by the fact that he quickly removed the posts from Facebook once he
was informed that they had caused offense. Additionally, he issued an apology to
her on the same day that he was informed of her upset. However, due to the
phrasing of the Member’s apology, the Investigating Officer finds the apology to
be insufficient and the Governance Solicitor concurs with this finding.
Having regard to the willingness of the Member to accept sanctions on a finding
of a breach and the high importance placed on the need for the parties to
continue to have a professional and working relationship the Governance
Solicitor considers that local resolution is a suitable outcome for this complaint.
The local resolution will be in the form of training to be provided to the Council
including the Member on the Code of Conduct and social media to be delivered
on behalf of the Monitoring Officer. This is recommended with a view to promote
the high standards for all members and to enhance awareness of the use of
social media. Additionally it is recommended that the Member issues a further
apology and that a copy of the apology to be reported back to the Town Council
for the public record.
This decision notice is sent to the Complainant, the Chair of the Council and the
Member against whom the allegations were made.

Page 300

Page
5
156

Next Steps
 For the Chair of the Council to contact the Governance Solicitor to arrange
training for the Council with the Member to attend.
 For the Member to confirm and provide to the Governance Solicitor a copy of
the apology provided to the Complainant.
Right of Appeal
Code of Conduct complaints are governed by the provisions set out in the
Localism Act 2011. The Localism Act 2011 does not allow a right of appeal and
this decision is final.

Terms of reference
The Localism Act 2011
Signed
K.Coulson-Patel

Kamila Coulson-Patel
Governance Solicitor
Date: 27 February 2020

Page
6
157

Page 301

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 8: Decision Notice to Panel COM 322-324

Page 303

This page is intentionally left blank

DECISION NOTICE:
INVESTIGATION
Complaint References – COM 322, 323 and 324
On 11 August 2021 the Deputy Monitoring Officer considered the complaints
relating to Councillor Pete Molloy of Spennymoor Town Council (COM322, 323
and COM324), in accordance with Durham County Council’s Procedure for Local
Assessment of Complaints (“the Procedure”).
Further to the decision notice dated 13 May 2021, the complaints were referred
for investigation. The investigator’s final report has now been received. The
investigator has concluded that there has been a breach of the Member Code of
Conduct.
In accordance with the Procedure, where the investigation finds evidence of a
failure to comply with the Code of Conduct, the Monitoring Officer in consultation
with the Independent Person, may seek local resolution to the satisfaction of the
complainant in appropriate cases. Where local resolution is not appropriate or
possible, the investigation findings will be reported to a Hearing Panel of the
Standards Committee for local determination.
This summary decision is produced to record the decision taken following
completion of the investigation and includes the main points considered, the
conclusion and reasons for that conclusion. It will be available for inspection at
the offices of the Council for six years beginning with the date of the decision.
However, the summary will not be made available for inspection until the
member who was the subject of the complaint has received the written summary
of the decision.

Page 1

Page 305

Complaints
Three complaints were referred for investigation relating to the conduct of
Councillor Molloy (the Member) which are summarised below.
COM 324
It is alleged by the Clerk that she has been subject to bullying by the Member
and that he had made an unfounded accusation on Facebook that she had
conspired to make a false allegation of bullying against him. Additionally, it is
alleged that the Member made complaints to the Council about the Clerk which
were unfair and unfounded.
COM 322
It is alleged by an officer of the Town Council that the Member made a comment
at a Council workshop meeting and a post on Facebook, both suggesting that the
officer should be gotten rid of.
COM323
Members of the Town Council have submitted a complaint relating to the conduct
of the Member, in particular his comments at meetings and on Facebook relating
to the officers of the Council. Any findings made in respect of COM 322 and 324
will be applied to this complaint as it mirrors the primary allegations made by
officers.
Code of Conduct
The complaints relate to the conduct of the Member as a Spennymoor Town
Councillor and the relevant paragraphs of the Code of Conduct are:
1. he/she shall behave in such a way that a reasonable person would regard as
respectful at all times, and not bring the Town Council or their office into
disrepute.
2. he/she shall not act in a way which a reasonable person would regard as
bullying or intimidatory.
5. he/she shall not share, discuss or disclose information to others which is
confidential or where disclosure is prohibited by law.
Decision
The Deputy Monitoring Officer, in consultation with the Independent Person has
decided that a Hearing Panel of the Standards Committee should be convened
to determine the complaints.
Reasons for decision
In respect of COM 324, the Investigating Officer found that the statement on
Facebook relating to the Clerk amounts to a failure to treat the Clerk with respect
and brings the Council into disrepute. Additionally when considered in light of
earlier similar statements also published on Facebook, it is suggested that
conduct of the Member amounts to bullying of the Clerk.

Page 2

Page 306

The Investigating Officer noted that the Facebook post on 4 December 2020 had
a striking similarity to the conduct which resulted in the finding on COM 263 that
he had disrespected the Clerk. The repetition of essentially the same behaviour
suggests that the Member has ignored the earlier warning that this could
constitute bullying. As the Governance Solicitor noted in COM 263, bullying
behaviour generally consists of a course of conduct (i.e. a pattern of behaviour).
Given the obvious similarity of the two posts, the Investigating Officer considers
that the two incidents do constitute a pattern of behaviour, notwithstanding that
there was a period of 18 months between them.
The Investigating Officer concluded that there had been no breach of the Code
by the Member in making complaints about the Clerk. The Investigating Officer
placed particular weight on the fact that the Member had followed the appropriate
procedure for raising complaints against the Clerk and recorded that:
“It is in the public interest that councillors should not be deterred from holding
senior officers accountable for their official actions, provided the appropriate
channels are used.”
On balance, in this instance, the Investigating Officer considered that the
Member’s enhanced right of freedom of expression outweighed the right of the
Clerk to be protected from unjustified criticism.
In respect of COM 322, the Investigating Officer found that the repeated
suggestion of getting rid of the officer’s job amounted to a failure to treat him with
respect, brings the Council into disrepute and also constitutes bullying. The
Investigating Officer records that the circumstances of any individual’s
employment are both private and sensitive and, in particular, termination of an
individual’s employment should never be discussed in such a casual and public
way. The Investigating Officer recorded that the conduct of the Member has
harmed the interests of the employee, but it also undermined the relationship of
mutual trust and confidence between the authority and its officers, which harmed
the public interest in good administration.
On considering the complaint and the investigation, the Deputy Monitoring
Officer considers the complaints and the findings of the Investigating Officer to
be sufficiently serious to warrant consideration and determination by a Hearing
Panel of the Standards Committee. The Deputy Monitoring Officer notes that
there has been an earlier complaint where the Member had been warned about
such conduct and there had been attempts by the Town Council to mediate
however these have not prevented the continuing complaints against this
Member for conduct which is said to be contrary to the Code. The earlier
attempts at resolution coupled with the entrenched position of the Member in
respect of these complaints, the Deputy Monitoring Officer considers that it is
appropriate to refer these complaints to a Hearing Panel of the Standards
Committee for determination.
This decision notice is sent to the person making the allegations, the Clerk to
Spennymoor Town Council and the Member against whom the allegations were
made.

Page 3

Page 307

Next steps
In accordance with the Durham County Council local determination procedure a
Hearing Panel of the Standards Committee will be convened to consider the
complaints and the arrangements will be confirmed in writing to the parties.
Right of Appeal
Code of Conduct complaints are governed by the provisions set out in the
Localism Act 2011. The Localism Act 2011 does not allow a right of appeal and
this decision is final.
Terms of reference
The Localism Act 2011
Signed

James Etherington
Deputy Monitoring Officer
Dated 11 August 2021

Page 4

Page 308

Appendix 9: Final Statement for COM 322-324

Page 309

This page is intentionally left blank

Final statement for COM 322 – 324
I would like to submit three statements (appendix 1) from two former Town Councillors and a current
Town Councillor. These are the same three statements I forwarded onto the Investigating Officer that
explain the Town Clerk’s negative behaviour towards myself since being elected onto the Town
Council in 2019. This behaviour is continuing with a further two complaints (COM374 and COM375)
about me to the Monitoring Officer, which I received notification of in the last week of October.

My initial complaint against the Facilities Manager and the Town Clerk’s response to my complaint are
included in this statement at appendix 4.
Yours sincerely.
Councillor Pete Molloy

Page 311

Appendix
1. Statements.
2.
3.
4.

Page 312

Appendix 1
Witness statements
Paul Humble – Former Town Councillor
Paul Humble
13 Jul 2021, 16:35
to me
To whom it may concern,
I have been asked by Councillor Pete Molloy to present a statement

From May 2017 until I resigned in June 2019 I was a serving Town Councillor with Spennymoor Town
Council.

Moving back to Cllr Molloy, I am fully aware that his past causes people to have a certain impression
of him, however he has never hidden this past and presses ahead regardless. In the short time I

Page 313

served with him it was very clear that he was a Councillor with the very best for Spennymoor at the
centre of all of his decisions.

Kind Regards
Paul Humble
Christine Sproat – Former Town Councillor
Christine Sproat
Mon, 19 Jul, 21:35
to me
TO WHOM IT MAY CONCERN
I have always found Councillor Peter Molloy to be an extremely well dressed, well mannered
councillor and a decent family man who has risen above his previous political leanings to become an
upright citizen in Spennymoor, hence his success in recent elections when the residents of
Spennymoor voted for him to represent them not only for Spennymoor Town Council but also Durham
County Council.
Between May 2017 and May 2021 I was an elected member

. For these reasons I fully support Councillor Molloy.
Councillor Molloy, I know, always researches and scrutinises issues prior to bringing them to the
attention of the council and apparently, due to his diligence it has been stated that he is "feathering
his own nest!" If guilty of anything, it will most probably be asking too many questions and challenging
decisions.
I consider Councillor Molloy to be an outstanding councillor and an asset to both Spennymoor Town
Council and Durham County Council. He refuses to be intimidated by the Town Clerk even though he
is regularly interrupted and ridiculed whilst trying to read out pre-prepared statements to the whole
council.
He speaks knowledgeably in a calm manner, never raising his voice or being rude, always managing
to continue even when attempts are made to silence him.

I made the decision not to stand again but to retire from the political spectrum, but I wish Councillor
Molloy every success not only as a Town Councillor but also as a County Councillor.
He works extremely hard for the people of Spennymoor and hopefully will do so for many more years.

Page 314

Mrs Christine Sproat
(Former elected member for the Kirk Merrington Ward of Spennymoor Town Council)
Field View
Vyners Close
Spennymoor
Durham
DL16 7HB
Clive Maddison – Town Councillor
Clive Maddison
Tue, 20 Jul, 16:29
to me
I, Clive Maddison, have held senior Councillor positions over the last 4.5 years and seen the way any
Councillor who asks questions have been treated.
Pete Molloy asks a lot more questions than others, and has recently taken up presenting Motions as a
voice to be heard but due to political manoeuvres he has not had these motions supported; though he
does need to ask questions the right way.

Over the last 4 Years in capacity of Mayor and Deputy Mayor and as Vice Chair of Finance, I have
had to Chair a lot of meetings; more than anyone else I would say and I have seen more motions and
points of order at most meetings after Cllr Geldard, then leader for Labour, lost their 18 seats on the
Council - and a voice on the Council - to the Independents.
For the previous 6 years I was on the Town Council there was only a few motions or points of order.
My term of office at today is 10 years representing the Town Council.
Cllr Molloy has been a hard working Councillor since he joined the Town Council. He has
represented the Poppy Appeal and helped to raise more than £100,000, and every year he launches
a new badge to help with this fund raising.
I have seen that every time he has stood for election the Hope not Hate Group, some with links to
Labour Party Members have put hate mail out against him. He has never denied that he stood in the
past for BNP but says he has now turned away from them and is now an Independent and was
successful in gaining County and Town Council seats, coming second in the polls. Some Councillors
have resented this.
Clive Maddison
COPYRIGHT, Clive Maddison 2021.
Not to be used on Facebook or any other social media site or in any published

Page 315

literature.
Sent from my iPhone

Page 316

Appendix 2.

Page 317

Page 318

Page 319

Page 320

Page 321

Page 322

